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Statement of responsibility by the board of directors

The Board of Saniam Developing Markels Limited (the ‘Board’) fakes responsibility for the integrity, cbjectivity and reliability of the annual financial
slatements of Sanlam Developing Markels Limiled in accordance with nternational Financial Reposting Slandards. Adequate accounting records have been
mainlained. The Board endorses the principle of kransparency in financial reporling. The tesponsibilily for the preparalion and presentalion of the annual
financial stalemenis has been delegaled lo management

The responsibility of the exlernal audtors. Ernsl & Young Inc., is fo express an independant opinion cn the far presentalion of the annual financral
slatements based on their audil of Sanlam Developing Markets Limiled (the “Company®). The Audit, Actuarial and Risk Commifies has safisfied itself that {he
external auditors were independenl of Ihe Company during the year under review

The Audit, Actuarial and Risk Commities has confirmed that effective syslems of inlernal control and risk management are being maintained. There were no
breakdowns in the functioning of the internal inancial conlrol systems during the year which had a material impac! on the annual financial statemanis. The
Board is salisfied that Ihe annual financial statements lairly present the financial position, the results of operalions and cash fiows in accordance wilh
Internaticnal Financal Reporting Slandards and is supported by reasonable and prudent judgements consistently apphed.

A descriplion of how the Audd, Actuanal and Risk Commiliee carried out ils functions is included in the Audil Commities and Dreclors reports

The Board is of the opinion that Santam Developing Markets Limited is financially sound and operales as a going concern: The annual financial stalements
have accordingly been prepared on this basis.

Consolidated annual financial stalements have not been prepared for the reasons sel oul in the Direclors’ report

The annual financial statements on pages 13 to 88 were approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by

K Socikwa JG T

Chief Executive Officer Cl Finangial Officer

Johannesburg
15 At 2019
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Certification by the company secrefary

In my capacity as Company Secretary, | heseby cerlify, in erms of the Companies Act of South Alrica {the ‘Compariies Act), that for the year ended 31
December 2018, the company has lodged with the Register of Companies all such returns as are required of a public company in terms of this Act, and ihal
&ll such returns are, o the best of my knowledge and belie! frue, correcl and up lo date.

Ramatlha
ompany Secretary

Joharnesburg
15 April 2019
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Audit, Actuarial and Risk Committee (“Audit Committee”) Report

Members and dates of appointment
CG Swanepoel {Chairman) (24/08/2012) , P de V Rademeyer (Previous Chaimman) {28408/2006) resigned 17/04/2018, KT Nondumo {23/08/72016), PE
Speckmann (22/05/2016}, PE Burton (22/08/2017) resigned 21/02/2018,

The Audit, Actuarial and Risk Commiliee (‘the Audit Commitiee”) comprises of anly independent non-executive directors. All Audit Commitiee members have
financig) o actuarial and/ar other relevani areas of experience {as described in its charter). We confirm, on behalf of the Audit Committes, that they met 4
limes in the year.

The Audit Commillee has formal terms of reference reviewed and approved annually by the Board of Direclors, which are listed in the Audit Committee’s
Annual Plan. The Augit Commitiee is salisfied it has discharged these responsibilities. All matters on the Annual Plan were considered and we are salisfied
that they were appropriately addressed. A list of the functions of the Audit Commitiee is contained in the Audil, Actuarial and Risk Commitiee Charter. The
Audil Commitiee ensured that, at all times, it adhered to the Audil, Aciuarial and Risk Committee Charter,

The role of the Audit Commitiee is to fulfil all of the functions sel out in the Companies Act, except those done by the Sanlam Life Limited Audil, Actuarial and
Finance Commiftee, lo assist the Board in Rulfiing its responsibility with regard 1o financial and auditing oversight responsibilities, as well as the overall quality
and integrity of financial and actuarial reporting and intemal control matters, The Audit Committes annually evaluates the Company’s intemal controls and
has satisfied itself that there were no matesial breakdowns in internal financial control systems during the year.

In our deliberations with the extemal auditors we are confident thal the auditors were independent at all times for the year ended 31 December 2018,

The Audit Committee Repart for the 2018 financlal year:

The Audil Commities has pleasure in submitiing this report, as required in terms of the Companies Act. The Audit Commitiee consists of independent non-
exegulive directors. During the period under review, four meetings were held, refer o page 10 for the attendance of the Audit Commitiee members. Al the
meelings, the members fulfiled &l their functions as prescribed by the Companies Act as well as those additional functions as detemmined by the Board,
excepl those performed by the Sanfam Life Limiled Audit, Actuarial and Finance Committee. A list of the functions of the Audit Commiltee is contained in the
Audil, Actuarial and Risk Commitige Charter, same of which is elaborated upon above. The Audit Committee evaluated the Company's intemal financial
controls, on the basis of reports from management, intemal and external audit, and has satisfied itself that there were no material breakdowns in such
controls during the year, The Audit Committee has satisfied itself that the auditors are independent of the Company and are therefore able to conduct their
audit functions withou! any undue influence from the Company. The Audit Committee is satisfied that the annual financial statements fairly present the
financial position, the results of operations and cash flows in accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting Standards and is supported by reasonable
and prudent judgements consistently applied and has recommended their approval 1o e Board.

CG Swaneposl
Audit, Actuarial and Rlsk Committee Chalrman
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Shareholder of Sanlam Developing Markets Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Sanlam Developing Markets Limited set out on pages
13 to 67, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity
and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Sanlam Developing Markets Limited as at 31 December 2018, and its financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the company
in accordance with the Independent Requlatory Beard for Auditors Code of Professional Conduct
for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code), the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA code) and other independence requirements
applicable to performing audits of Saniam Developing Markets Limited. We have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code, IESBA Code, and in accordance with
other ethical requirements applicable to performing the audit of Sanlam Developing Markets
Limited. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises of the
following:

= Statement of responsibility by the board of directors;
» Certification of the company secretary;

» Audit, actuarial and risk committee's report;

e Directors report;

» Capital management; and

e Risk management report.
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The other information does not include the financiat statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the
Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

* Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.
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e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the company's interna! control.

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

¢ Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the company to cease to continue as a going concern.

¢ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December
2015, we report that Ernst & Young Inc. has been the auditor of $anlam Developing Markets
Limited for 13 years,

mr_@ﬂ@ Taec

Ernst & Young Inc.

Director - Eugene Breytenbach
Chartered Accountant SA
Registered Auditor
Johannesburg

30 April 2019
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Nature of business

The Company is a regislered Lifa Insurer, incorporated and domicited in the Republic of Soulh Alrica, prowiding risk and savings producis.

Issue of shares

No shares were issued during the year, Delails of Iha Company's authorised and issued share capital are set oul in note 9 on Paga 46, No shares were
issued subsequen to year end up to date of thrs report

Dividends

A dividend of 666 cents per share (779 cents on 21 February 2018) was declared on 21 February 2019 m respect of the 2018 earnings. No wilhholding tax
on the dividend declared is raised as the dividend is declared wilhin the Group.

Auditors
Ernst & Young Inc.
102 Rivonia Road
Sandton
2146
Company details
Regisiration number: 1911/003818/06
Registered address: Sanlam Business Park
13 Wesl Slreet
Houghlon
2198
Postal address: PO Box 1941
Houghton
204
Company secrelary O Ramalthape
Holding company
The Company’s holding company is Sanlam Lifa Insurance Lenited and its ullimate holding company is Santam Limited
Board of directors and committee memberships
INIJO Quallfication Agein 2019 [Date Appointed|  Date Resigned
IExacuﬂva directors
K Sockwa "’ Brom, LLB, MAP, AMP(Harvard Business Schoal) 50 01-May-17
J Grobler ! CA (SA) 49 12.0¢1-11
Non-exacutive chair
| visagie CA [54) a8 fo1.Nov-15
Non-axecutive directors
P da V Rademeyer ' ICA(SA), CTA, SEP{Stanfore) 7 28-Auig-06 17-Apr-18
J Strydom BBusSci, CFA, MBA, FIA, FASSA 44 19-Feb-16
KT Nondumo CA {SA) 41 23-Aug-18
CG Swanepoel FASSA 69 24-Aug-12
N Mmati |BSocSc, BA{Hons), MDP, ELP 54 23-Aug-16 14.Feb-19
PE Burton Beom(Hons), PGD Tax Law 67 22-Aug-17 21-Feb-18
PE Speckmann ™ CA {SA) 63 21-Feb-18
" Chiaf Excculvo

s} Chiol Financial Officer
MChaiman effottive Jung 2017

14 Proviows Lead Independenl Director, rasigned 17 April 2018

I Lead independenl Directer since 1 May 2018
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Summary of meetings attended by directors

Board Audlt, Actuarial and Remuneration
Risk Committee Comtnittee
Name A B A B A B
J Strydom 4 4
K Socikwa 4 L] invitation 4 invitation 4
J Grobler 4 3 inwlation 3 invitation 3
| Visagie 4 4 invilation 4 invitation 4
P de V Rademeyer 1 1 1 1 1 1
KT Nondumo 4 4 4 3 4 4
CG Swanepoel 4 4 4 4 4 4
N Mmatli 4 4 invitation 4
PE Burlon 1 1 1 1
PE Speckmann 3 3 3 3 3 2

Calumn A tndicates the number of mestings held during the year whie the dics¢lor was a member of the board or commitiee.
Column B: indicates the number of meslings attended by the director during the year while the director was @ member of he board or comnitles.

Events afier the reporting date

No material facts or crcumstances have arisen between the date of the Statement of Financial Position and this report which may materially affect the
financial posiion of Sanlam Developing Markets Limited at 31 December 2018.

Group annual financial statements

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Sanfam Life Insurance Limied Sanlam Developing Markets Limited elecled in accordance wilh IFRS 10
paragraph 4{a) not to present consolidated group financial stalements. The Board is salisfied tha! the publication of the Dreclors’ Report togelher with the
annual financial statements of the Company, informs sharehelders adequately aboul the Company s financial position in terms of the Companies Act.

Internal control
Based on the reperts rom management as well as Ihs internal and external audilors, the directors are salisfied that effective systems of internal financiat
controls are being maintained

Subsidiaries
Delails of the Company's principal subsidiaries and associales are sel out on page 65 - 66.

Directors’ Interests [n contracts
No material conlracls involving directors’ interesls wera entered into in the year under review, with the exception of conlracts within the Sanlam Group.

Approval of annual financial statements

The annual financial stalements have been approved by the directors as reflected on page 3, including the cerlification by the Company Secrelary on page 4,
and the Aud, Actuarial and Risk Commitlee report for the 2018 linancial year on page 5.

Notice in terms of section 45 of the Companies Act

A special resolution in terms of seclion 45 of the Companies Acl has besn passed authorising ihe Board to make loans to ralaled companies. The Board is
satished thal the publicalion of the Directors’ Report {ogether with the annual linancial stalements of Sanlam Developing Markets Limiled, informs
shareholders adequately about the Company's linancial position, results and cash flow in terms of the Companies Act
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Corporate govenance

Tha Company is a member of the Sanlam Group of companies and is a wholly owned subsidiary of Sanlam Life Insurance Limited wilh its ultimate holding
Company being Sanlam Limited {"Sanlam’). As a member of lhe Sanlam Group, the Company has to comply with the Sanlam Group Corporale Governance
Palicy. After considering ihe nature of the business of Ihe Company {being that of a Public Operating Company), is postion in the Sanfam Group as well as
Ihe contents of the Sanlam Group Corparate Governance Policy, he Board has decided o apply all King IV principles and praclices covered by the Sanlam
Group Corporate Governance Policy As a first slep in the ongoing commiment to continuous improvement and alignment 1o sound corporale governance
busingss practices the Company reviewed its board charters and policies against the King IV principles and recommended praclices.

Sanlam Groy vernance Polic

The Board promoles and suppors high standards of corporale governance and in doing so endorses the principles of the fourth repord on Corporate
Governance i South Africa (King IV}, The Company subscribes 1o & governance system whereby, in particular, elhics and inlegrity sel the slandards lor
compliance. It conslanl'y reviews and adapls ils structures and processes to facilitate effeclive leadership, suslainability and corporate citizenship in support
of lhe Sanlam Group Slrategy and to refiect natioral and infernalional corporate governance standards, developments and best prachice. With regard 1o the
year under review, the dreclors believe that 1he King IV principles are akeady entrenched in the internal conirols, policies and procedures governing
corporate conduct within the Company

Application of and approach to King |V

The Board remains commilted to the mplementabion of King 'V at the same level as the Sanlam Group. The Board is satisfied ihat, during 2018, every effort
was made lo apply and explain all aspecls of King [V and has taken sleps to ensure adherence wilh the cbligations placed on the Company as a
consequence Thereof. The Company regularly assesses its compliance leve's in respect of King IV to ensure that all areas thal require mprovement are
identified and addressed

Focus areas dunng Ihe past financial year for the Company incuded.
« On going compliance wilh and enhancemenl of the Sanlam Group Corporate Governance Policy Framewok.
+ Implementation of the Sanlam Group Strategy as relined in 2018.
« The annual evalualion of the Company's dreclors in accordance with the King IV independenl enleria and olher mdicators, and on a subslance over
form basis.
+ Annual review and approval of the Company’s Risk Appetile Statemenl.
+ On going adherence fo the IT Governance Framework and Charter as well as the IT Policy Framework.

information Technology (IT) ts essenlial lor the Company as it has becoma iruly pervasive. The Board's governance of IT diects the strategic and
operational usa of IT, ensunng benelifs are reaksed at an acceptable and articulated level of risk. IT receives appropriate focus and is wewed as an important
enabler of projecls Ihal effect change m the Company Thus. IT Governance is extanded to include all major change projects. The IT Governance framework
established at Sanlam Group level extands into the Company and is tailored to suit their specific needs. Similarly. 1T Governance capacily and awareness
are established within ihe Company The Company uses Sanlam Group policies for risk management, compliance, internal audit, IT management as well as
the performance of Ihe non-audit services by Ihe exlernal auditors.

Refer Io the Santam Group Corporate Governance report 2018 for a greater appreciation of the application of King IV by the Sanam Group. Specifically
under the Group's Coda of Ethical Conducl, no material breaches were reperled during 2018. The Group compliance function, legether with the compliance
funclions of the business divisions and unils, faciltales 1he management of compliance through the analysing of statulory and regulatory requirements, and
monitoring of the mplementation and execution thereof. Material devialions ara reporled to the Santam Risk and Compliance Commitlee. No material matters
of non-compliance with applicable faws, industry regulations and codss, as well as internal policies, were reported duning 2018
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Board structure and committees

The Board of the Company as al 31 December 2018 consists of 2 execulive and 6 non-execulive dreclors, 3 diectors of whom are independent, including a
lead independent director Al the drectors were appointed with the appraval of the Company's holding company, also a member of the Sankam Group of
companies. The delails of the drectors including lher attendance of meelings, education, age and lenglh of service can be found on pages 9 and 10 of the
annual financial slatements. Detals of the drector fees paid i indvidual direclors can be found on pages 55 and 56 of the annual linancial statements.
Formal Board appraisals are conducted. The Company has an Audi, Actuaral and Risk Commiltee and a Remuneration Commitles.

The Audit, Acluarial and Risk Commuites and Remuneration Committea consists of independent non-executive directors. Their roles and responsiilities ara
st cut in detail n ther respeclive lerms of reference which are reviewed annually The Company does not have a Nominations Commiltee, Customer
Interest Commities. Social, Ethics & Sustainabilily Committes, IT Steering Commitles o an Investment Commitles. Where necessary lhese functions are
appropriately addressed by Ihe Board or by the relevant Board Commillee of its holding or ultimate holding company

Summary
The Board is salisfied that the Company complied with al' the applicable Sanlam governance policies as well as with all applicable laws and reguiations. The
Board, afler due consideralion, has recommended the financial stalements lo the shareholder for approval
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1. (Introduction

Sanlam Developing Markets Limited's (the ‘Company’) financial statements are prepared on the historicak-cost basis, unless olherwise indicaled, in
accordance with Inlernational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Praclices Commiltee,
Financial Pronguncements as ssued by Financial Reporting Standards Counall and the requrrements of the Companies Act, No, 71 of 2008 {as amended), in
South Africa. The Soulh African Rand is Iha funclional and presentation currency for lha enlily

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Sanlam Life Insurance Limited. Sanlam Developing Markels Life Limied elecled in accordance with IFRS 10
paragraph 4(a) nol to present consolidated group financial statements. The Consoldated Financial Siatements of the holding company can be found on

htips fhanwaw sanlam comyfinvestrnelations/down'oadscentre/Pagesidelauft asnx.

The Sanlam Developing Markets Limied annual financial stalements was compiled by Mr R Hibner. CA{SA) ACMA CGMA under the supervision of The
Chiel Financial Officer, Johann Grobler CA (SA).

The following new or revised IFRS and interpretations became effective in the current financial years and have Iherefore been applied:
s IFRS 9 =Financial Insiruments {efiective 1 January 2018)
+ IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracls wilth Customers (effective 1 January 2018)

The follewing new of ravised IFRS and interpretations have effective dates applicable |o future financial years and have not been early adopled:
« [FRS 16 = Leases (effective 1 January 2019)
+ |FRIC 23 - Uncerlainty over income fax treatments (effeclive 1 January 2019)
¢ IFRS 17- Insurance Contracts (effeclive 1 January 2022)

IFRS 16' Leases was issued by the IASB in January 2016 and replaces [AS 17 Leases for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The
Company does nol intend lo adopl the standard belore its effective date. IFRS 16 has one model for lessees which will resull in almost all leases being
included on the sfalement of financial position. Under the new standard, an asset {lhe right to use 1he leased flem) and the liability lo pay renlals are
recognised. The only exceplions are shord term and low-value leases. [ addition, the nalure of expenses related to those leases will now change as IFRS 16
teplaces Ihe straight-kna operating lease expensa with a depreciation charge for right-of-use assels and interes! expense on lease liabililies.

The accounling for lessors will not change significanlly.

As lessor This new standard 15 not expected to have a significant impact on how the Company {as lessor) accounls for leases due lo Ihe carry forward of he
lessor accounling model from IAS 17. However, the Company anlicipates an impact as a resull of the enhanced disclosures for lessors required by IFRS 16
namely:

» components of lease income; and

«+ nsk management wilh respect lo exposure to residual asset risk.

As lessee: The standard will alfect primarily the accounting of the Campany's operaling leases. As al Ihe reporting date, the Company has non-canceliable
operating lease commitments of RB2 5 million. However, the Company has not yel determined fo what extenl Ihese comenitments will resull in the recognition
of an asset and a liability for future payments and how this will affect the Company’s profit and classification of cash flows.

Some of the commitments may be covered by the exception for short-lerm and low-value assets and some commiiments may relate to arrangemenls thal wil
not qualify as leases under IFRS 16

As lasses, the Company can ether apply the standard using a:
+ Relrospective approach, or
+  Modified refrospeciive approach with optional practical expedients.

The lessee applies the alection consistently lo all of its leases. The Company plans to apply IFRS 16 using the modffied retrospective approach, Therefore,
the cumulative effecl of adopting IFRS 16 will be recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of relained earnings at 1 January 2019, wih no
restatement of comparalive informalion.

When applying the moddied refrospective approach the leases previously classified as operaling leases undes 145 17, the lessee can elect, on a lease-by-
leaser basis, whether o apply a number of practical expedients on Iransifion. The Company 15 assessing the potential impact of wsing thess praclica
expedien!s,
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The Company is not required o make any adjustmenls for any leases in which il is a lessor excepl where it is an intermedliate lessor in a subdeass.

IFRIC 23 Uncerlainly over Income Tax Treatments was issued in June 2017 The Interprelation addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax
Irealments involve unceriainly thal alfects the applicalion of 1AS 12. Inilial work periormed, indicates thal there will be limited impact on lhe financial
statemenls as a result of this slandard interprelalion

IFRS 17: insurance Contracts was rssued in May 2017 The slandard establishes the principles for the recognifion, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of insutance coniracts wilhin the scope of he standard. Initial work petformed on the impact of IFRS 17 indicates thal there will be a signilicant
irpact on the undetlying valuation modets, systems and processes. The Company is in The process of assessing the requirements of Ihe standard against
curent data. processes and valuation models and is expected o finalise this assessment during 2019,

The Company does not expect any alher slandards issued by the IASB, but not yel efieclive, o have a material mpacl on the Company

2. Financial statements presentation

Uss of eslimates assumplions and judqements
The preparalion of the financial slatements necessitates the uss of estimates, assumptions and judgements. These eslimates and assumplions afled items
reported in the Company’s slatement of financial position and stalement of comprehensive income, as well as contingent libiliies, The major items subject
to the application of eslimales, assumplions and judgements include;

+ The fair value of unlisted invesiments

+ The valuation of policy liabilities, and

+ Potential claims and conlingencigs.

+ Impairment of linancial assets

+ Classiication of financia! assets

Afthough estimates are based on management's best knowledge and judgement of current facts as at the stalement of financial position date, the actual
oulcome may dilfer from hese eslmates, possbly significantly. Refer (o note 23 lor further information on ertical estimates and judgements.

Policyholders’ and shareholders' achivilies

The Company's financial statements set out on pages 13 to B8 include Ihe activities of the policyholders and shargholders.

The assets, fizbilifies and actwities of the policyholders and shareholdars in respect of the iife inswrance businesses are managed separately and are
governed by the valuation bases for policy liabilities and profit entitlement rutes, which are deternined in accordance wilh prevailing legislation. IFRS,
generally accepled acluarial praclice and acuarial professional guidance. The valuation bases in respect of policy liabilities and the profit entitlement of
shareholders are sel out i accounling policy note 3 and note 23,

Cash its and smilar securili
Cash, deposils and simiar securities include bank accounl balances, call, ferm and negotiable deposits, promissory noles and money market collective
investment schemes. A dislinction is made between:
+ Cash, deposits and similar securilies included in the asset mix of policyholders’ and discretionary shareholders lund invesimant porifolios, wiich
are disclosed as invesiments in the Company's stalement of linancial posilion; and

+ Working capilal balances thal are disclosed as working capital assets, apart from bank overcrafts. which are disclosed as working capital lisbililies.

Einancial instruments
Due fo Ihe nature of the Company's business, linancial instruments have a significant impac on the Company’s financial position and performance. Audied

information in respect of the major categories ol financial instruments and the risks associated therewtlh is provided in the lofiowing seclions:
+ Nole 6: Invesimenls;
+ Nols 10 Long-term policy liabilifies;
+ Nole 23: Crilical accounting estimates and judgements; and
+ Page 71 Riskmanagement report.

Funds received from clients

Funds recewved from clienls include single and recurming long-lerm insurance premiurn income from insurance and invesiment policy contracts, which are
included in Iha financial statements.
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2. Financlal statements presentation {continued)
New business

In the case of long-lsim insurance business, the value of a new policies {insurance and investmenl conlracls) that have been issued during the financial
yaar and have af leas! one premium recognised in the financial statements, which was nol subsequenlly refundad, is regarded as new business.

Paymants to lienis

Payments 1o clienls include policy benefits paid in tespect of long-term insurance and investmenl policy confracts, which are included in the financial
stalements.

Interaroup loans

Intergroup loans are disclosed as follows:
* Loans between Ihe Company and the ultimale holding company are disclosed as inlercompany loans;
* Loans between lha Company and other leflow subsidary companies are disclosed as intercompany loans; and
« Loans between the Company and subsidiaries are included in invesiment in subsidiaries, lo reflect the folal invesiment in thesa subsidiaries.

The lair value of intergroup loans is approximated by its carrying amount.
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1. Introduction

The Company has identified the accounting policies that are most significant o tts business operations and the understanding of its resulls. These include
policies relaling o insurance liabililies, deferred acquisilion casls, the ascerlainmenl of fair values of financial assets, financial fiabilities, derivalive financial
insiruments and the determinalion of impaimment losses.

These policies (as sel out below} are in accordance with and comply with IFRS and have been apphed consistenily for all periods presented, unless
olhenwise noted.

2. Significant accounting policies
1. Equipment

Equpment is rellected al il's depreciated cost prices less accumulated impairmenl, where appropriale. Deprecialion is provided for on a straight-line basis,
laking into accounl the residual value and estimated useful lives of the assets, which vary belween three and len years. Il the expecled residual value is
equal to or grealer than the carrying value, no depracialion is provided lor. The residual values, estimated uselu! Ives of the assels and deprecialion
melhods are reviewed al each stalement of financial position date and adjusied as appropriate.

Usaful life for fypes of equipmenl

+ Computer Equipment 3 years
+ Olfice Equipment $ years
+ Office Furniture 10 years
+ Vehicles 5 years

Cosl prices include cosls drectly atinbutable to the acquisilion of equipment, as well as any subsequenl expenddure when il ts probable that lulure economic
benelils associaled with the item will flow lo the Company and the expanditure can be measured refiably  All other expendilwre s recognisad in the
slatemenl of comprehensive income when incured

Equipment is derecognised at disposal dale or at the dale when it is permanently withdrawn from usa wilhout the ability lo be disposed of. The differences
between the carrying amounls af the date of de-ecognition and any disposal proceeds, as applicable, is racognised in {he statement of comprehensive
ncome.

22, Goodwill

Goodwil arises on the acquisition of a subsidiary company or the acquisition of a business. i represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the
Company's share of the fair value of the nel idenlifiable assels of Ihe business at the date of acquisition. Goodwl s nat amorised. The gan of loss on the
disposal of a subsidiary or business includes the cartying amount of goodwill alfributable fo the entity or business sold.

impaemen of goodwill

For impairmenl testing purposes, goodwill is allocated lo cash-generaling unils at the lowest level of operational activity 1o which it relates. The recoverable
amount ol the cash-generating und has been determined based on The group equily value of the Sanlam Developing Markets Lid (SOM) results

23, Other Intangibles

Acquired infangible assets are recognised al cost an acquisition date. Subsequent to inilial recognilion, these assels are rellected at Ther amortised cost
prices less accumulated impairment, where appropriale. Amortisation is provided for on a straight-ine basis, taking inlo account ihe residual value and
estimaled uselul lives of the assels. The residual values, eslimated useful lives of the assets and amertisalion melhods are reviewed at each statement of
financial postion date and adjusled as appropriate. Intangible assels are tested for impaiment on a bi-annual basis and wrilten down for mpairment where
this is considered necessary.

No value is afiributed lo interrally developed brands or simitar rights. Costs incumed on these items are charged fo the statement of comprehensive mcome
in the pericd in which they are incurred
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24.  Deferred acquisition cost

Incremental cosis drectly attribuled lo the acquisitions of investment contracts with mvesiment management services are capilalised {o a delerred acqursdion
cosl {DAC) asse! if thoy are separalely identifiable, can be measured reliably and it is probable thal they will be recovered. The DAC asset is amorised {o lhe
statement of comprehensive income over the term of the conlract as the related services are rendered and revenue recognised, which varies from year lo
year dependent on lhe outstanding term of the contracts in force. The DAC asse! is tested for impaimment bannually and writien down when i s not
expected to be fully recovered from future fee income.

25. Long-terin reinsurance assets

Conlracls entered into wilh reinsuters under which the Company is compensated for losses on one or more long-term policy contracts issued by the
Company and that meet the classiication requirements for insurance conlracls are classilied as long-term reinsurance confracls. The expecled clams and
benelils to which the Company is entifled under these contracls are recognised as assets where material. The Company assesses its long-term reinsurance
assels for indicators of imparment bi-annually I there is objeclive evidence that the reinsurance assel is impaired, the carrying amaounl s reduced o a
recaverable amounl, and the impairment loss is recognised in the stalement of comprehensive income.

26. Financial Instruments

Financial inslrumenls carried on the stalement of linancial posdion include mvestmenls (excluding associates), receivables, cash. deposils and smilar
securilies, loan lofrom holding company, investmeni policy conlracts and frade creditors.

2.61. Recognition and de-recognition

Financial instruments are recognised when ihe Company becomes parly to a confraclual arangement that constitules a financial asset or linancial liability for
lhe Company lhat is not subjecl to suspense condiions.

Financial instruments are derecognised when the conlractual right to receive the cash flows expire or when the assel s iransferred. On derecognilion of a
linancial asset, he difference between ihe carrying amount at the date of derecognition and the consideration received is recopned in profit or loss

Financial lisbilities are derecognised when the obligalion to deliver cash or alher resources in terms of the coniracd is discharged, cancelled or expres On
derecognition of a financial liabilily, the difference between the camying amounl extinguished and the consideralion paid 15 recegnised in profit or loss

Collateral placed at counlerparties as part of the Company’s capilal market acivilies are not derecognised. No transfer of ownership lakes place in respect of
collateral other than cash and any such collaleral accepled by counterparlies may not be used for any purpose clher than being held as securily for the
trades fo which such securily relales. In respect of cash securily, ownership translers in law. However, the counterparly has an obligation 1o refund the same
amount of cash, together with interest, if no defaull has occurred in respect of the irades to which such cash securily relates. Cash collateral s accordingly
also not derecognised.
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26, Financial Instruments {continued)

262 Classification
2621 Hnancial agsels

On initial recognition, a financial asset s classified as measured at:
«  Amortised cost, or
+ Far valus through profil or loss (ether mandatory or designaled); or
+ Farr value through other comprehensive income

Afinancial assel 1s measured at amorlised cosl § il meats bolh the fallowing canditions and is not designated as at fair value through profit of loss:
+ it &5 held wilhin a business mode! whose objective 1s 10 hold assets to collect confractual cash flows; and
+  its confractual terms give risa on specified dates 1o cash flows that are solely paymenis ol principle and inlerest on the principle amount outslanding

A debt insirumend 15 measured at far value through olher comprehensive income only if it mests both of the following condilions
+ the asset 1s held within a business model whose objective is achisved by both collecling contractual cash flows and selling financial assels; and
+ its contractual terms give rise on specilied dates to cash flows 1hal are solely payments ol principle and inferest on the principle amount oulstanding

All financial assels not classilied as measured at amortised cost or at far value through other comprehensive income as descrbed above are mandatonly
measured at far value through prefil and loss. In addition, the Company designated cerlain financial assels that would meet the requirements to be
measured at amorlised cost or al far valug threugh olher comprehensive income as al fair value through profit or loss if doing so eliminates or signilicantly
reduces an accounting mismatch that would olherwise arise.

2622 Hnancial fabifities

On inilial recognition, the Company classilies ils financial liabtilies into one of the following calegories:
+ Amorlised cost; or
+ Faw value lhrough profit or loss (edher mandatory or designated).

The classification of inancial instruments is delermned at initial recognition based on the purpose for which the financial assets are acquired o liabilities
assumed. Financial liabiliies classilied as at fair value through prolit or loss comprise held-foe-trading liabilifies. including denvatives (mandatory fair vatue
through prolit or loss) as well as financial fiabilities designated as at far value hrough profit or loss.

On initial recognition Ihe Company designales a financial liability as at fair value through profil or loss when doing so resulls in mors relevant information
either because:

+ it eliminates or significantly reduces a measuremant or recognition inconsistency thal would otherwise arise from measuring assels or liabilities or
tecognising Ihe gains and on them on a difierenl basis, or

+ @ group of financial kabilities; or a group of financial assels and liabilities n managed and its performance is evalualed on a fair value basis, in
accordance wilh a documented risk management or investment siralegy and informabion about the group ts provided inlernally on thal basis to the
entity’s key managemenl personnal

The Company designates financial instruments as at far value through prolit or loss in line walh its risk management policies and procedures Ihat are based
on the managemnenl of the Company’s capilal and activities on a fair valus basis. The Company’s infernal management reporling basis is consistenl wilh the
classilication of its financial instrumenis,

263 Initial measurement

A financial asset or financial liability is inilially measured at far value, plus for a financial asset o financial liability not measured at far valua through profit or
loss, lransaction cosls that are dreclly attributable to ils acquisition or issue. Costs direclly alirbulable 1o the acquisition of linancial assels classified as at law
value Ihrough profil or loss are recognised in the statement of comprehensiva income as part of mvesiment surpluses.
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28, Financlal instruments (continued)
264, Subsequentmeasurement

Financial instruments classified as al fai value through profil or loss are measured al far value after inilial recognilion. Net gains and losses {i.e. on the sals
of invesiments and far value gains and losses), inferest of dividend ingome and loreign exchange gains or losses are recognised in prolit or loss, Changes in
farr value recognised in ihe stalement of comprehensive income as invesimenl surpluses. The patlicular valuation methods adepled are disclosed in the
individual policy slalements associated with each item,

Financial instruments classified as al amortised cost are measured al amortised cosl using the effective mterest melhod. Interest incoms, inferest expense
foreign exchanga gains and losses and impairment are recognised in prolit or loss. Any gain or loss or derecognifion is atso measured in proiit or Joss.

2.6.5  Impalrment
The Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses {*ECL") on linancial assels measured al amortised cost

Al each reporiing dals, Ihe loss allowances are measwed at an amount equal fo the Hetime expecled credt losses if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has increased signdicanlly since initial recognilion.

At each reparting date, the loss allowances are measured at an amount equal to the 12 menth expected credil lossas il

» The credd nsk on a financial instrument has not increasad significanlly singe initial recogndion; of
+ Financial mstruments are determined to have a low credit risk al the reporting date.

The Company determines whether the credit risk on a financial insirument has increased significantly by comparing this risk of defaull occurring on the
financial instrument as al the reporting dala with the risk of defaull accurring on the financial instrument as at the date of intia! recognition togelher wath
feasonable and supporiable information that is indicalive of significant imcreases in credi risk sincs initial recognition

Al each reporting date the loss allowanca are measured at an amount equal fo the 12-monlh expected credit losses if Ihe credit risk on a financial instrument
has nol increased significantly since indial recognition, Financial instruments that are delermined fo have a low credil risk ai the reporting date are assumed
to have no significant increase in credi risk.

Al each reporting dale, the loss allowance are measured at an amount equal lo ifetime expected credit losses il Ihe cradit fisk on the financial inglrument has
increased significantly since inttial recognilion in cradit rigk.

12-month expecled credit losses are the porlian of expected credit losses thal resull from default events that afe possible within the 12 monlhs after lhe
reperling date. Lifetime expecled credil losses are ihe axpected credit losses thal result from all possile defauk events over the expected ke of a financial
instrumenl.

An impaimment gain or loss is recognised in profil or loss for the amount of expecied credit losses {or reversals) that is required to adjusl the allowance at the
reporting date.

266,  Measurement of expected credit losses

Expected credi lsses are a probabilty-weighled estimate of credit losses measured as the present value of all cash shert fals (i.e. the difference between
the cash llews due to the entity in accordance with tha conlract and the cash llows Ihat the Company expecls to receve)

26.7. Presentation of foss allowances in the statement of financial position
Loss aflowances lor expecled credit kosses are presented as a deduclion from the gross carrying amounts of the financial assets.
268 Wrte-offs

The gross carrying amaunl of a financial asset is wrilten off and reduced when there is no reasonable expeclation of recovering a financial asset in ils antirety
o a portion thereol.
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26. Financlal instruments (continued)
269. Offsetting

Financial assels and iiabililies are offsat and the net amounl reported in the statement of financial position when there 1s currently a legally enlorcaable right
to oftset the recognised amaunls and there is an intention la seflle on a net basis, of to realise the assets and selfhe the Hizbilties simullaneously

2.6.10. Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchy

The Company is required fo disclose the fair value measurements, using a three-level fair value hierarchy that refiecls the significance of the inputs used in
determining lhe measurements. |t should be noted thal these disclosure only cover assels and liabiities measured at far value.

Included in Level 1 category are financial assets and liabilities Ihat are measured by reference to unadjusted, quoted prices in an aclive market for identical
assets and habililies.

Included in Level 2 category are financial assets and liabiltiss measured using inpuls oiher than quoted prices incuded within Leval 1 that are cbservable for
the asset o lability. edher directly (i . as prices) or indireclly (i e. derived from prices). For example, inslruments measured using a valuation lechmque
based on assumplions {ha! are supperled by prices from observable current market transactions are calegorised as Level 2.

Financial assels and labilities measured using inpuls Ihat are not based on observable market data are categorised as Level 3.
27.  Investments
27.1.  Subsidiaries and associates

The Company controls an investee when it is exposed. or has rights, 1o variable returns from its involvement with the nveslee and has ihe abiity to affec!
thase returns through its power over the investee.

An associale 15 an enfily, nol being a subsidiary, in which the Company has a long-term investmenl and over which it has the ability to exercise significant
wfiuence, being the ability 1o participate in Lhe financial and operating policies of the entily without being able to control those peficies by virlue of a majority
vole.

Investmants in subsidiaries and associates are freated as investmenis al far value through prolil and loss. The far value of insurance companies are
determined by using the Group Equiy Value methodolegy and non-insurance companies are determined by the using the net assel value methodologies
The net asset value approximales far value.

2.7.2.  Other investments

Other invesiments comprise:
+ Equities and similar securifies {including non-trading derivalives);
+ Inferest bearing investiments,
« Structured transaclions (including non-trading derivalives),
s Investment lunds;
« Cash, deposils and similar securities.

These invesiments are either classilied as subsequently measured at fair value through profil or loss {measured al fair value) or al amortised cost (measured
at amorlised cosl), as described in the financial instrumenis accounting policy note. Structured Iransactions mclude derivalives, struclured notes and
collaterised securities.
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27.  Investments (continued)
272,  Other invesiments {continued)

The lollowing bases ate used to delemmine fair value, for those invesiments that are classified al fair value through prolil or loss:
+ Listed shares and units in collective investmant schemes are valued at the stock exchange and net asset value prices respectively;
+ The value of unlisted shares is determined by Ihe direciors using appropriate vatuation bases:
+ Listed bonds are valued at the slock exchange prices;
* Unlisted interesl-bearing investments are valued by discounting expected future cash flows at appropriate market interest rates; and
+ Listed derivalive instruments are valued al the Soulh Alrican Fulures Exchange prices and the valus of unlisied derivatives is delermined by the
directors using generally accepted valualion models.

273, Stuctured transactions

Structured fransactions include foreign exchange conlracts, interest rate fulures, Torward rate agreements, currency and interes! rate swaps, cumency,
interes! rate and equity options and ather derivative financiat instrumenls that are measured at far valus,

Fair values are oblained from quoted markel prices. In Ihe absencs of quoted market prices the Company uses valuation {echniques Ihat incorporale faciors
thal markel pariicipants would consider in setling the prica and are consistent with accapled economic methedologies for pricing derivalives such as
discounled cash llowmodsls and option pricing models, as appropriate. The Company calbrates ils valuation techniques agains! market transacfions or any
available observable market dala. Day ong gains or losses on derivalives, measured using these valualion techniques, are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income to the exlent that they arise from a lechnique that incorporates only variables based on cbservable market data. In all other cases the
difierence is deferred until there has been a change in one of thesa variables (including time). i there has been no change in one of thesa variables, lhe
gains or losses are deferred, and recognised in the slatement of comprehensive incoms over the kfe of the instrumen.

The Cormparty doss not separate out embedded derivatives Ihat meet the definition of an insurance conlract or refale lo investmenl contracts recognised al
fair value.

Structured fransaclion liabilities are classilied as mandatorily measured at fair value hrough profit of loss.
28 Trade and other recelvables
Trade and olher recsivables are measured al amorirsed cost using the sffeclive inferast rate mathod.

Accrued investment income is classified in accordance with the classification of the assal that the investment income stems from Io the exten! that it forms
part of the carrying value of the instrument

29.  Cash, deposits and similar securities

Cash, depasils and similar securities consist of cash at hand, call deposits al banks, negoliable cerlificates of deposit and other shorl-term highly liquid
investments

210.  Share capital

Share capital ts classilied as equily where the Company has no obligation to deliver cash or other assels to sharsholders. Incremental costs atiributable to
the ssue ar cancslation of equily instruments are recognised direclly in equity, net of tax i applicable.

2.11.  Long-term policy Habilities

A confract 15 classified as insurance where the Company accepts significant inswrance risk by agreeing with the policyholder fo pay benefils if a gpeciied
uncertain future event (the msured event) adversely affects the policyholder or ather beneficiary. Significant insurance risk exists where il is expecled that for
the duration of the policy or pait thereol, policy benefits payabla on the occusrence of the insured event will significantly exceed the amouni payable on early
lerminalion. before allowance for expense deduclions al early lermination. Once a contracl has been classilied as an insurance contract, the classification
temamns unchanged lor the remainder of its lifelime. even i the insuranca risk reduces signdicantly during this period
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211. Long-term policy liabilities (continued)

Palicy coniracts not classified as insurance conlracls are classilied as investment contracts and comprise the following calegories:
« Invesiment confracts wilh DPF,
»  Invesiment contracts wilh investmenl managemenl servicas, and
+ Other investmen! conlracts.

An investmeni conlract with DPF entitles 1he policyholder o receive benelits or bonuses in addifion lo guaranteed benelils. These addional benefits have
the lollowing leatwes:

+ The benefits constitule a significant portion of each policy s total benefils;
+ The timing and amoun! of {he benefits are al the discretion of the Sanlam Group, which has lo b exercised in a teasonable way, and
+ The benefits are based on {he nvestment performance of a specified peol of underlying assets.

All investment contracts that fall within the scope of IFRS 9 {i.e. all invesiment conlracts wathout DPF) are dasignaled as al fair value through profit or loss.

Premium income from long-lerm insurance and investment policy conlracts i3 recognised as an inrease in bng-term policy liabillies. The full annual
premiums on individual instrance and invesiment policy contracts thal are recevable in lerms of the policy confracts are accounted for on policy anniversary
dates, notwilhslanding thal premiums are payable in instalments The monthly premiums in respect of cerlain new products are in terms of their policy
contracts accounted for when due. Cover only commences when premiums are received. Group life insurance and investment confracl premiums are
accounted for when receivable. Where premiums are nat determined in advance, they are accounfed for upon receipt, The unearned portion of acorued
premiums is included wilhin long-term policy liabilities.

2.12.  Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or construclive obligation as a result of a past event, t is probable that an outflow of
resowces embodying economic benelils will be required lo seltle the cbligalion and a reliable estimale of the amounl of the obligation can be made.
Provisions for onerous contracts are recognised when the expecled benefils to be denved from confracts are Jess than the unavoidable cost of meeting the
obligations under the contracls. Provisions are measured at the present value of the amounls that are expected {o be paid o selile the obligations.
Provisions ara charged lo 1he incoma statement in the line dem lo which it relates.

2.13.  Trade and other payables
Trade and clher payables are measured at amortised cost using Ihe effective interest rate method

Life insurance policy clams recorded up to the last day of each linancial period and clams incurred but nol yet reporied {IBNR) are included as part of lrade
and olher payables

2.13.1, leave entitfement

Employes enlillements to annual leave are recognised when Ihey accrue to employees. An acorual s made for Ihe estimated annual leave as a result of
sefvices rendered by employees up lo balance sheet date and is included in accounts payable in trade and other payables.

214.  Financial sendces income

Financial services income i considered (o be revenue for IFRS purposes and includes both IFRS 15 revenus and revenue scoped out of IFRS 15. The
different sources of revenue are lisied below:

+ Major IFRS 15 revenus sources

> Income from nvestment management activities, such as lund management lees, collective mvestment and linked-product adminisiralion
fees, commissions, performance fees and other fees;

> Income from capital market aclivilies, such as advisory fees and structuring fess on financing provided, and

> Income from olher linancial services, such as independent financial advice and frust services

s Major revenus sources nol within the scope of [FRS 15:

> Income earned from long-term insurance actvities, such as risk undenwriting charges and asset mismatch profits or losses in respect of non-
parlicpaling business,

> Income krom vestments held for capilal market activilies, such as realised and unrealsed gains or losses on unsecured corporale bonds
and money markel assels and liabillies
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214. Financlal services Income (continued}

Ravenua within the scope of IFRS 15 & eilher recognised at poinl in time or over tma. Revenue is recognised over lime if one of the follewang crilera s met:
+ The customer simullaneously receves and consumes Ihe benelits provided by the company's performance as Ihe Company perferms:
+ The company's performance creales or enhances an assat that the customer conlrols as the asset s created or enhanced; or
+ The company's performance does not create an asset with an allernative use fo the company and the Company has an enforceable nght to
payment for performance completed to date

1f none of the above cnteria is met, revenus is recognised at poind in tme.

IFRS 15 ravenue disagaregation
Ravenue from contracls wilh customers are disaggregaled by geographic location and type of revenue. We believa it best depicts how the nalure, amount,
timing and uncertainty of our revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors

Recognilion of difetant sourcas of revanug

Fees for invesiment managemenl or administration services in respect of investment contracts are recogrised as services rendered. Inilial faes thal relate lo
lulure rendening of services are deferfed and recognised as those future Services are rendered. Related performance lees are afso recognised over time,
however represen! variable consideration and therefore recognilion is constrained unlil there is a "high degree of confidence* that tevenue will nol be
reversed in a subsequent reporling period; lhis is typically on crystalisation of Ihe fee

Commissions from investment management or administralion services in respecl of invesiment contracts are recognised as services are tendefed. For IFRS
15 purposes, lhese commissions are recogarsed either al point in time or over lime

Investment and imsurance contract policyholders ate charged for policy administration, nsk underwriing and other services. The long-lerm policy contract fee
income is recognised as revenue over fime as lhe related services are rendered

Acluanial and risk management fees refates to actuarial billings to chients
215,  Investment return

2.15.1. Imvestment income

Investment income inchides interest and dividand income received.

Interesi income is accounted for on a fime proportionate basis thal lakes info accoun! the elfeclive yield on the assel and includes the net income eatned
fiom inferest margin business.

Dividend ingome is recognised when the right to receive payment has been established. Dividend income from subsidiaries is recognised when the dividends
are declared by Ihe subsidiary.

2.15.2. Investment surpluses

Invesimenl surpluses consist of net realised gains and losses on the sale of investments and nel unrealisad lar value gains and losses on valualion of
investments al far value excluding dividend and interest income. These surpluses are recognised in The statement of comprehensive income on the date of
sale or upon valualion to fair value. Cosls drectly atlributabla to Ihe acquisilion of financial assets classified as af farr value through profil or loss are
recegnised in the slatement of comprehensive income as investmenl sutpluses.

2.16. Long-term insurance and Investment contract benefits
Life insurance policy claims received up to tha last day of each linancial penod and claims mcurred bul not reported (IBNR) are provided lor and included in
underwr iling poficy benefits, Past claims experience is used as ihe basis for determining the: extent of the IBNR clams

Income from reinsurance policies is recognised cancurrently with the recognilion of the related policy benefit
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216.  Long-term insurance and investment contract benefits (conBnued)

Other policy benslils
Other policy benelits are nol recognised in the Company's stalement of comprehensive incorms but rellecled as a reduction in long-term policy lisbilities.

Maturity and annuily paymenls are recognised when due. Surrenders are recognised at Ihe eatlier of paymeni date or 1ha date on which the policy ceases lo
be inciuded in long-lerm policy liabilties.

217.  Sales remuneration

Salas remuneraion consis!s of commission payable to sales slaff on long-term investiment and insurance business and expenses dreclly related therelo,
bonuses payable to sales slaff and Ihe Company’s conlribution to their ratirement and medical aid lunds. Commission is accounted for on all in-force policies
in the financial peried during which it is incurred.

The porfion of sales remuneration Ihat is direclly attributed lo The acquisition of fong-temn single premiums investment policy contracts is capitalised 1o the
delemed acquisilion cost {DAC) asset where this exists, and is recognised over the periad in which the related services are rendered and revanue recognised
{refer to policy 2.4.).

Sales remuneration recognised in the statemen! of compehensive income includes the amortisation of delerred acquisition cosis as well as sales
remuneration incurted thal is nol directly altributable to the acquisiion of lng-term investment policy contracts for which a DAC assel has been created.

218,  Administration costs

Adminisiration costs includs, inter alia, indirect taxes such as VAT, properly and adminisiration expenses refaling to property and investment expenses
related to the management of {he policyholders’ invesiments, claims handling costs, product development and raining cosls.

2.19.  Leases

Leases of assefs, under which the lessor elfectively relains all the risks and benefils of ownership, are classfied as operating leases. Payments made under
cperaling leases are charged lo the stalement of comprehensive income on a straighiine basis over the period of the leasa, When an operating lease is
terminaled, any payment required by the lessor by way of a penally is recognised as an expense in he petiod in which ferminalion lakes placs.

220. Taxation
2.20.1. Nommal income tax

Currenl ingome lax is provided in respect of taxable income at the amount expected to be paid to {or recovered from) the laxation authorities, using the lax
rate and fax laws thal have been enacted or substantively enacled by Ihe end of the reporting period,

2202 Deferred income tax

Deleied income tax is provided for on alltaxable temporary differances between the lax bases of assels and liabilties and ther carrying values for financial
reporting purposes using the lability melhod, except for:
+ Temporary differences relating fo invesimenls in associales and subsidiaries where the Company contrals the iming of Ihe reversal of the
lemporary dilferences and it is probable Ihat the lemporary differences will nol reverse in the foresesable future; and

+ Temporary dilferences arising from the initial recagnition of assels or liabililies in transaclions other than business combinations that al iransaction
dale do not affect either accounting or taxable profit o loss.

The amount of deferred income tax provided is based on the expected realisalion o sstllement of the deferted lax assels and liabiliies using tax rates
enacled or substantively enacled at the statement of financial postion date. Delerred tax assels relating to unused lax losses are recognised lo the extent
that it is probable that lufure taxable profit will be available against which the urused tax losses can be ulifised.

Delerred tax balances are refiected af cument values and have not been discounled.
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221, Foreign cunrencles

Foreign currency transaglions are lranslated o functional cumency. i e the cumency of the prmary economic environmend in which each of the Company's
enlilies operale, al the exchange rales on kransaction date  Monetary assels and iabiities are franslated to functional currency at the exchange rates ruling
at the financial pariod end. Non-monetary assets and hiabililies carried al lar value are Iranslaled to funclional curency at ihe exchange rates ruling al
valuation date  Nen-monelary assels and iabiilies cartied at historic cost are transiated to funclional currency at the exchange rales suling at the date ol
initial recognition. Exchangae dfferences arising on the seftlement of transactions or the transialion of working capital assets and liabiites are recognised in
the slatement of comprehensive incoma as financial services income. Exchange differences on non-monetary assels and monetary assels classilied as
investmenl assels, such as equities and foreign iierest-bearing investments, are included in investmant surpluses

2.22.  Defered share plan (DSP)

The DSP was introduced in 2007. In lerms of the DSP, the Company undertakes lo defiver a fixed number of Sanlam Limited shares lo selecled employees
on pre-delermined dates in the fuure, on condiion that he employes is slill in the employment of the Company on thoss dales. Vesting eecurs in threa
Iranches over a period starting lhres years from the grant date, subjecl to cerain performance targsls.

The award granted under the DSP is not subjeci 1o the salisfaction of company performance condiions but does require meseling mdidually contracled
petformance hurdles. Upon vesting, the Company will seltie its liabiily by purchasing Santam Limiled shares in the open markel and delivering thess to
employees with vesled awards.

To the exlent that lhe face value of the awards granted under the DSP does not salisfy the specified muliple of total guaranteed package 1o be granted as
long-term incentive awards, Ihe individual will ba granted an award under the perlormance deferred share plan (PDSF). Awards granted under the PDSP are
conditional rights 1o acqure shares for no consideration subject to various vesting condibons being salsfied

The fair valus of the instruments granted takes info accaunt the market price of Santam Limiled shares on gran! date, the fact that employees will not be
entilled 1o the dividends unlil the shares vest, as well as an assumplion on lhe actual percentage of shares thal will be delivered. This plan is classilied as a
cash settled share based payment, and the far valus s expensed over the period until the vesting date with recognition of a cotesponding liability The
liabsility i re-measured to fair value at sach reporiing date up lo, and including ihe seliement date. wath changes in fair value recognised in employee benslils
gxpensa

223.  Restricted share plan (RSP)

The RSP was introduced in 2006, Selecled key employees are granted lully paid-up shares al no consideration in terms of retenlion and performance
agresments. Unconditional vesting occurs on pre-determined dates subject to certain performance targels being met

The RSP has, to dale, baen operated in conjunction with the short-leim bonus scheme. Where an individual's performance justifies a bonus award which wal
be in excess of the calculated cash amounl, that excess amoun! will be awarded as restricled shares under the RSP. Under this plan, executives receive fully
paid-up shares in the Company The exacutive owns the shares from the dale of grant and is entilked lo receive dividends. However. the shares are subjecl
to vesting condifions and may be forfetted if these condilions are nol mel dunng the vesling period

This plan is classfied as a cash setiled payment, and the far value is expensed over the penod until the vesting date with recognition of a coesponding
liabilty Liabilities are remeasured 1o far value

2.24.  Retirement benefits

Reliremenl benefits for employess are provided by way of defined benefil and defined conlribulion pension and provident funds  The assels of these funds
are held in separale trustee-administered funds. The retremenl plans are funded by payments from employees and from the Company. laking into account
the recommendations of independent qualilied acluanes.

The Company's contributions fo the defined contribution and defined benefit funds are charged to Ihe statemenl of comprehensive income m Ihe year
which Ihey are incurred. A valuation in accordance with |AS 19 Employea Benelits treatment regarding removal of the corrdor methed and other
comprehensive incomae 15 performed on the statement of financial position date.

Retirement fund contributions arg made on pensionable saiary, which melude medical contribulions
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2.24.  Retirement benefits (continued)

Thetefore, active staff funds post-reteement medical conlributions themselves from their increased conlributions. The Company has provided in full for its
medical contribution commitments in respect of pensioners, disabled and olher members who are nol covered under lhe curent scheme.

224.1. Defined benefit plans

A defined beneiit plan is 2 pension ptan that defines an amount of pension benelil to ba provided, usually as a fundlion of one or mors faclors such as age,
years of service of compensation

The defined cbligations of the schemes are valued using the valualion basss for projected unil credit method. Any deficits advised by the aciuaries are lunded
aither immedtalely or through increased contributions 1o ensure the on-going soundness of the schemes. The nel surplus or delicit in the benefit obligation is
Ihe difference between 1he present value of the funded obligation and the far valus of plan assels. The Company recognises the estimaled liability using the
projected unit credit method. The present value of the overfunded portion of Ihese schemes is recognised as an asset ko the extent that there are materia!
benefits available in the form of refunds and reductions in contrbutions. The amounts of actuarial gains or losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

2.24.2. Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan s a pension plan under which 2 Company and employees pay confrbutions info @ fund The Company has no legal or
constructive obhigalien lo pay furlher contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assels lo pay all employess the benefits relating to employees service in
the curreni and priot periods. Company conbributions 1o the pension lunds are based on a percantage of the payroll and are charged against income as
incurred.

2.243. Post-retirement medical aid benefits

The Company provides postreliremen! health care benefits Lo its relirees in respect of employees appointed prior to 31 May 1998. The pressnt vatue of the
posl-etirement medical aid obligation is acluarially determined annually and any defict o surplus 5 mmedialely recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income. The Company recognises the eslimated liability using the projected unit credil melhod. The Company has no significant exposure to
any ather posl-retrement benefit obligation. Valualions of thesa cbligalions are camied out by independent acluaries annually.

225. Dividends
Diwdends proposed o declared ailer the statemenl of financial posilion dale are not recognised at the statement of linancial position dale.
2.2G,  Other reserve

The deferred tax assel recognised in respect of the assessed tax loss in policyholder funds increased the Company’s net assets wilhout a corresponding
ingrease i policy habiilies. This created a mismatch with a correspanding impact on the shareholders’ fund. A separale reserve is crealed for Ihis delerred
tax assel owing to the lact that it represents net assessed losses (o the extent assels are considered recognisable. and will be realised as the assessed tax
loss 15 ulilised.

3 Policy liabilities
31.  Intreduction

The valualion bases and methodology used to calculate the policy labiities of all material lines of long-term insurance business and the corresponding
shareholder profil entillement for Saniam Developing Markels Limited are set out below.

The vafuation bases and melhodology, which comply with South African acluarial guidalines and require minimum liabildies 1o be held based on a
prospective cakulation of policy lisbilites, serves as a liabilily adequacy fest. No adjustment is required to the value of the kabildies al 31 December 2018 as
atesult of the aforementioned adaquacy fes!. The valuation bases and methadology comply wilh the requremenls of IFRS.

Where the valuation of fong-lerm policy liabilities is based on the valuation of supporting assels, ihe assets are valued on the bases as sef out in the
accounling policy for investments, with Ihe exception of invesiments in subsidiaries, associated companies and consolidated funds, which are valued at fair
value.
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32 Classification of contracts

A dislinclion ts made belwean invesimen! conlracts without discretionary parficipation (ealures (DPF) {which [all within the scope of IFRS 9 - Financial
Instruments), investment contracts wilh DPF and insiwance conlracts (where the Financial Soundness Valuation (FSV) method continues (o apply, subjed] to
cerlan requremenls speciied in IFRS 4 - Insurance Confracls). During the period reported on in these annual financial statements, the only in lorce
investment contracts wilh DPF relates o the Sentry refirement annuity product, These conlracis are drsclosed under “liabilities under invesiment conlracts”

A contract is classfied as an insurance cantract whese the Company accepls signilicant insurance risk by agreeing with the policyholder lo pay benefis if a
specified uncerain fulure eveni (the insured evanl) adversely affects the policyholder or other bensficiary. Significant insurance risk exists where it 1s
expecled thal lor the duralion of the policy or part thereof, policy benelits payable on the occurrence of the insured event will exceed the amounl payable on
early lerminalion, before allowancs for expense deduclions al early termination. Once a conlrtact has been classified as an insurance contracl, the
classification remains unchanged for the remainder of ils lilelime. aven if Ihe insurance risk reduces significanily during this petiod.

Policy conlracts nol classified as insurance confracis are classfied as investment conlracis and compriss the following categories:
+ Investmenl contracls with DPF;
+ {nvesiment coniracts with invesiment managemeni services, and
+ Clher investmenl contracts.

An invesiment contract with DPF entities the policyholder to receive benefils or bonuses in addition lo guaranteed benefils These additional benelils hava
1he followng features.

+ The benefits conslitute a signficant porlion of each policy’s total benefils;

« The lianing and amouni of the benefils are at the discretion of Ihe Santam Group, which has to be exercised in a reasonable way, and

+ The benefits are based on the investment performance of a specilied pool of underlying assels.

Al invesiment confracts that fall within he scope of IFRS 9 {i.e. all investment contracts without DPF) are designaled as at fair value through prolit o loss.
33 Insurance contracts
331 Individual Insurance contracts

The acluarial value of the policy liabillies is determined using the FSV method as described in the Standard of Aduarial Practice (SAP) 104 issued by the
Actuarial Sociely of South Alrica {Actuarial Society), which is consistent with Tha valuation of assels at fair value as described in the accounting policy for
investments. The underlying philosophy is ta recognise prolits prudently over the lerm of each contract consistent with the work done and risk borme.

Liabitities are valued as the present value of expecied lulure cash flows discounted at the rate of relum assumed on (he assets backing ihe policyholder
funds. Thesa is a small pertfolio of non-profil ife annuilies for which cash flows are discounted using the South Alrican risk-free yield curve. Fulure cash flows
ara projecied on a best estimate basis wilh an allowance for compulsery margins as sel out in SAP104 and discrelionary margins in line with Company
policy. Best estimale assumplions are required for fulure: investment returns, bonus rates, expenses, persistency, mortaily and other factors that may
impacl on the financa! position of the Company. Future voluntary premium increases are profilable and are lherelore ignored in line wilh SAP 104 In order
to ensurs appropriate recogndion of profil over the ife of a contracl, no policy is perrnitied 1o have an overall negative fiabilily This result in a discretionary
margin for insurance coniracls of RS 723 million (2017 RS 176 million). No other discretionary margins are added for insurance conracls.

Economic assumplions are derived wilh referance o the yield at the valuation date on the risk free yiekd curve al duration consistent with thal of the liabities.
The duration is 5 years (2017 5 years).

The appropriate asset composition of the various asset portiolios, invesimen! management expenses, taxes al cument lax rates and charges for investment
guarantees are faken inlo accounl in delermining the valuation disceunt rata for each portiolio. The assumptions adopted allow for the current and expected
Tuture lax position of Ihe Company
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33.1. Individual insurance contracts (continued)

The economic assumptions are as follows:

Dec-18 Dec-17
Fixed inlerest B.60% 8.00%
Equities 12.10% 11 50%
Properly 9.60% 9.00%
Cash 1.60% 7.00%

The gross weighled average relurn is 9.3% (2017 8.7%) based on an assumed asset mix of fixed interest (359), equites (30%) and cash (35%)
Expense inflation is also based an {he {ixed interesl yield and is assumed to be 6 6% (2017 6%).

Demographic assumplions including merlality, morbidity and persistency rales are derived direclly from recenl experience and are adjusted for anticipaled
fulure trands. Investigations are performed at least annually and the mos! recent was performed in Juna 2018 The fulure development of AIDS mortality is
projected in line with the requirements of Advisory Praclice Note (APN) 105, of the Acluarial Sociely

Fulure expenses are projected on a per policy basis where Lhe per policy expense is derived from the higher of budget 2019 expenses and aclual 2048
expenses and dellated/escalaled at ihe assumed expense inflation rate. Renewal expenses are determined by removing acquisition cosls and nondecurring
expenses from the total expenses and adding an allowance for fulure project costs which 15 derived from an analysis of hislorical projecl costs.

For indwidual policies where benefils are linked to the return on an undexlying investmant porfolic {including smoathed bonus business), the liabilities are
taken &s the market valuas of the underlying nvestments, buit up from lhe investment allocations made from the premiums paid, adjusted to aflow for the
discounted presant value of the difference between expected fulure expenses and expected future charges.

Pokcyholder reasonable expectalions are allowed for by projecting lulure bonuses m line wilh future investment returns.

Non-participating life annuily instalments and future expenses in respect of these instalments are discounted al tha zero-coupon yield curve adjusted to atlow
for credit risk and investment administralion charges. Al prolits or losses acorue lo the shareholders when incurted.

For cerfain minor classes of business, including cerlain rider benefits, liabilities wera calculated as a multiple of ihe monthly premium.

The linancial soundness methodology includes aflowance for liabilty adequacy lesting (as required by tFRS 4) to ensure Ihat the carrying amount of
techmical provisions is suflicient in view of estimated future cash flows. When performing the liabiiity adequacy test, conlraciual cash flows ara discounted
and compared lo the carrying vale of the liabilily. Whers a shorifall is identiied an additional provision is made. No such provision was requred at 31
December 2018. For smoothed bonus business, Ihis resulls in an implicil bonus smoolhing reserve which is currenlly posilive for ratirement annuiliss and
marginally negative for endowments af (0.7%)

33.2. Groupinsurance contracts

For group inzurance contracts, appropriale reserves are held for the unexpired risk portion of cover provided and for disabibity claims in payment
34.  Investment contracts

34.1.  Investment contracts without discretionary participation features

Investment coniracls wilhout discrebonary parlicpation lsatures have been valued in terms of IAS 39. These contracls are disclosad under *iabiiflies under
mvestment confracls’ and are valued at far value. All movements, olher than fair value movements, on invesimenl confracls are excluded from the
staternent of comprehensive income and accounted for drrectly as parl of the liabilty

Fully inked investment confracts are valued by setling Ihe value of the liabilfies equa’ lo the markel value of the assats backing the policies
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341, Investment contracts without discretionary participation features (continued)

Single premium guaranteed policies are valued by discounting expecied lulure cash flows using a risk free yield curve. Liabiltties are currenlly held for single
premium policies markeled lhrough two different distribution channe's. The frst greup were marketed by the Company; no further single premium policies
are being sold through the Company’s distribution stafl, other than continualions of existing conlracts. The second group of single premium policies were
marketed by Sanlam Persanal Finance (SPF). No further single premium guatanlesd policies are being sold through SPF. A llat deduclion is made from the
yield curve 1o ensure that the liabilily value for a newly incepled contract i no less than the premium received (after direct initial costs for the Company
markeled policies and drect and indirec! initial costs for SPF markeled policies). The level of this deduction ts denved for cohors of similar policies. Profits
are recognised over the ferm of the conlract in line with the release of this margin. A test is performed {o ensura that this methodology resulls in a liability
figure af least as large as the liability calculated using the compulsory margins as set out in SAP104

342 Investment coniracts with discretionary participation features

For the Senry refirement annuily product which is deemed to ba an investmenl contract with DPF, the liabibly is sel equal o the estimated prospeclive
|iabilly using a sel of iang-lerm bonus rates

a5, Reinsurance

Liabiliies are valugd al a gross level belore faking reinsurance info account. Where material, Ihe diference between the gross and net (aller reinsurance)
vahie of fiabiliies 1s held as a reinsurance assel, No impairment is currenBly provided for agains! Iha reinsurance asset based on the credit ralings of the
reinsurers.
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2018 07
Notes R000 R'000
ASSETS
Equipment 1 67,752 53219
Goodwill 2 18,446 18,446
Intangble assets 3 13,525 18,625
Deferred acquisition costs 4 185,378 197,004
Long-term reinsurance assels & 3,928 4,800
Invesimenls 21,633,655 22123667
Invesiment in subsidianes 6.1 14,514,438 16,365,629
Investments in associaled companies 62 341,698 445419
Equities and simitar securiies 63 1,024,750 1,127,460
Inferest bearing investmenls 64 1,227,188 1,747,183
Struclured fransactions 64 79,226 6,040
Investment funds 64 2,971,642 1,857,789
Cash, deposils and smilar securibies 6.4 1,474,712 574477
Intercompany loans receivable 7 53,766 49 995
Delerred tax asset " 676,462 938,560
Working capital assets 1,675,343 1,284,003
Trade and olher receivables 8 410,713 222,262
Cash, deposils and similar securilies 1,088,729 1,061,741
Taxalion 175,901 -
Tofal assets 24,328,255 24,686,439
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capita’ and premium 9 853,563 853,563
Other reserve 578,780 636,551
Ratained sarnings 2,284 543 2,461,894
Total equity 3,716,886 3,952,008
Long-term policy liabilties 18,772,804 19,274,008
Invesiment contracts 10 15,162,201 15,782,069
Insurance contracls 10 3610513 3,491,939
Delerred tax liabilty 1 10,977 22,890
Intercompany foans payable 12 209575 189,050
Working capital liabilities 1,618,013 1,238,483
Trade and olher payables 13 1,496,480 1,005,395
Sharsholders for dividend 10,261 10,261
Provisions 14 111,272 105,952
Taxation - 116,875
Total liabilities 20,611,369 20,734,431
Total equity and liabillties 24,328,255 24,666,439
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2018 2017
Notes R'00D R'000
Net Income 5,204,354 6,997,962
Financial services income 15. 5,484 621 4,697,069
Reinsurance premiums paid 16. (11,824) (8.969)
Investment income 171 1,1836% 1,008,657
Investment surplusas 172 {1,452,001) 1,301,205
Nat insurance and invesiment conlracl benelits and clams (1,387,398} (3,398,335)
Insurance conlract benefils 18 (1,977,906) {1.618,412)
Invesiment conlract benefils 18. 577,378 {1,821,679)
Reinsurance claims recaived 16. 13,130 41,756
3816956 3599627
Expenses (2,455,344) {2,102,759)
Sales remuneralion (1,240,446} {1,086,820)
Adminisiration cosls 19 {1,209,798) {1,011,964)
Amertisalion of intangibles {5.100) (3,975}
Profit before tax 1,361,612 1,496,868
Taxalion 20 (400,880) (351,125)
Profit after tax 960,732 1,145,743

Cther comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive Income for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 960,732 1,145,743
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Share Retained
Share capital premium Other reserve earnings Total equity
Notes R'000 R'000 R000 R'000 R000

Balance at 1 January 2017 11,745 841,618 609,834 2,254,585 3,717,982
Profit for the year . - - 1,145,743 1,145.743
Dividends declared 22 - {911,717) {911,717
Transfer fo /{lrom} olher reserve wmn7 (26.717) -
Balance at 31 December 2017 11,745 841,818 636,551 2,461,894 3,952,008
Profit for the year . . . 960,732 960,732
Dividends declared 2 . {1,195,854) (1,195,854)
Transier lo / {from) olher reserve {67.771) 57,771 -
Balance at 31 December 2018 11,745 841,818 578,780 2,284,543 3,716,886
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Restated
018 2017
Notes R'000 R'0D0
Cash tlow generated from operating activities {210,865) (400.576)
Cash generated by operations 261 246,821 320,739
Interest recaved 174 1,080,650 914,473
Dividends received 171 92,968 94,184
Dividends paid (1,195,854) {912,006)
Taxation pad 62 {445,470) {517,966)
Cash llow [rom invesling acivites ™ 237,853 194,201
Disposal of subsidiaries and associates ] 237,853 194,201
Net Increasef/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 26,988 93,625
Cash, deposits and smilar secunfies 2l beginning of year 263 1,081,741 968,116
Cash, deposits and similar securities at end of year 1,008,729 1,861,741

"t Refor to holo 31 for details on Lha restalement
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Computer Motor Office furniture
equipment vehicles and equipment Total
1. Equipment R'000 R'00D R'000 R'000
2018
Balance at the beginning of the year 19,445 418 33,356 53,219
Cost 72,467 1547 92,23 166,245
Accurmulated depreciation (53022 {1,129} (58,875) (113,026)
Addilions and expendiure capialised 25,355 873 10,140 36,368
Disposals {296) {48} (344
Cost {1,018 (548) {1.563)
Accumulated depreciation 722 497 1,219
Depreciation {14.271) (268} {6.932) {21,491}
Balance at the end of the year 30,233 1,003 36,516 67,752
Cost 96,804 2420 101,826 201,050
Accumulated depreciation {66,571) {1,417} (65,310) (133,208)
——————
2017
Balance at the beginning of the year 19,683 609 26,658 46,960
Cost 72,664 1547 79,458 153,669
Accumulated deprecialion (52.971) {938) {52,800} {106,709)
Addilions and expenddure capilalised 12,459 - 14083 26,542
Disposals (713) - {1,309 (2,022)
Cosl (12.656) - {1.310) (13,966)
Accumnulated depreciation 11,943 - 1 11,944
Oepreciation {11,.994) {191) {6,076) (18,261)
Balance at the end of the year 19,445 418 33,356 53219
Cost 72.467 1547 92231 166,245
Accumulaled depreciation {53,022) (1.129) {58,875) {113,026)
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2018 2017

2 Gootiwill R'000 R060

Balance at the beginnlng of the year 18,446 18,448
Cosl 18,446 18,446
Accumulated amortisation o =

Addilions during the year -

Balanice at end of year 18,446 18,446
Cosl 13,446 18,446
Accumulated depreciation . ,

The goodwill arosa from the business combination of the Alfinanz business effeclive 1 Oclober 2003

The R18m goodwill balance relales (o tha Allinanz business acquired in 2009 Ihal ferms a division within SDM. Therefora the cash generaling unil is SOM as
a whole.

The group equity value of SOM at tha end of 31 December 20185 R11 142 mullion which exceeds Ihe net asset value of R3 717 million by R7 425 million
Therefore there is no indication of impakment.

3. Intangible Assets

Balance at the beginning of the year 18,625 12,600
Cosl 121622 111,622
Accumutaled amortisalion {102,997} {89.022)

Adddtions and expenditure capitalised . 10,000

Amorlisation {5,100) (3.975)

Balance at end of year 13,525 18,625
Cost 121622 121,622
Accumulated amortisation {108,097} {102.957)

The additions in the 2017 financial year relale to the value of business acquired of Family Funeral Services.
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2018 2017
3, Deferred Acquisition Cost R'060 R'000
Balance at the beginning of the year 197,094 197,353
Movemend during the year {11,716) (259)
Acquistion costs capitalsed 75,427 91,654
Expensed for the year {67.143) (91,953)
Balance at end of year 185,378 197,094

The DAC relates to acquisition costs capilakised on he Cumulus product which was launched during 2011

5. Long-term Reinsurance Assets

Balance at the beginning of the year 4 800 32,650

Movernant i reinsurers’ share of insurance liabilifes {872) (27,850)
Moveman! in policyholder liabililiss (864) {27,895)
Movement i [BNR (8) 45

Balance at end of year 3928 4,800

The priar year movement in Ihe policyholder kabilities was due 1o a recapture of the Senlry book from Swiss Re. effective 1 January 2017, for a consideration
of R35m

0to1 year 1to 5 years »Syears Open ended Total
Matuiity analysis of long-term reinsurance assets R000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R000
31 December 2018 - 671 3207 50 3928
31 December 2017 - 1296 3446 58 4,800
6. Investments 2018 2017
6.1.  Ilnvestment in subsidiaries R'000 R'000
Balance af ihe beginning of the year 3,039,372 2,253.612
Disposal ol investment in Santam Life Insurance Zambia Lid {incorporated in Zambia) - (115,136)
Disposal of invesiment in Alrican Life Assuranca Company (Tanzania) Lid {incorporaled in Tanzania) - {79.065)
Fair value adjusiment {1.546,572) 979,961
Total Investment in subsldiaries 1,492,800 3039372

The reasen for the negalive fair value adjustmenl in the currenl financial year is due o poor investment markel perfomance.

During 2047 the Company sold ils investment in Sanlam Life insurance Zambia Lid (incorporated m Zambia) and African Lile Assurance Company
{Tanzania) Lid (incorporated in Tanzania) to Sanlam Emerging Markels (Ply) Lid at far value

l.oans with subsidiaries.

S0M Investment Trust 13,021,638 13,326,257
Total loan balance with sulisidiaries 13,021,638 13,326,257
Total net investment In subsidiaries 14,514,438 16,365,629

The loan wilh SDM Invesiment Trust is of a long-lerm nature and is held at far value
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6. Investments (continued) 2018 2017

6.2 Invesiment in assoclated companies R'000 R'000
Balance al the beginning of the year 445,240 380 768
Disposal of investment in FBN Insurance Lid {incorporated in Nigeria) (237 .853) .
Dividand received (54 052§ {53,193)
Fair value adjusimenl 188,120 117 645
Total investment In associated companies 341,455 445,240
Loans with associaled companies:

Nico Life Insurance Company Lid (incorporated in Malawi) 243 179
Tolal loan balance with associated companies 243 179
Total net Investment in associated companies 341,698 445419

The abova loans are unsecured, shorl term in nature and carry no interesl. The repayments of these loans are done on a quarlerly basis, unless lhe

subsidiary is a loss making subsidiary

The Company has 49% inlerest in Nico Life Insurance Company Lid, which is involved in e insurance activilies in Malawr The investment is measured as
an investment at fair value through profit and loss. Tha following lable ilusirales the summarised financial information of the company's invesiment in Nico

Life Insurance Company Lid.

Details of investmen! in material associated companies:

Number of shares held

Interest in issued share capital

Share of earnings after tax

Distributions received

Aggregate post-acquisition reserves alfribulable lo shareholders
Financial information as at 31 December - lolal;
Earnings affributable lo shareholders

Current assels

Non-current assels

Cumenl liabiliies

Non-current liabillies

Equdy

Fair value of interest in associale

Gross premiums

Other Comprehensive Income

Tolal comprehensive income

R000
R'000
R000

R'000
R'000
R000
R000
R000
RO0C
R'000
R'000
R000
R000

Nico Lifs Insurance Co Ltd
{incorporated in Malawi)

16925
49
177,088
34614
951,847

86,773
54,658
5,085,245
64,102
4,548,285
527,516
341,454
687,378

177.088

15925
49
172,552
23,502
414,769

84,551
56,844
3586113
36627
3,242,494
365,836
250,085
575,685

172,562
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6. Investments (continued) 2018 w7

6.2 Investment In assoclated companies {continue) R000 R'0CO

The Company held an 35% inferast in FBN Insurance Lid, which 1s involved in lfe and general insurance aclivilies in Nigeria. During 2018 the company sold
s invesiment in FBN Insurance Lid {incorporated in Nigeria) lo Sanlam Emerging Markets {(Ply) Lid at fair valua. The invesiment was measured as an
investmen at fair value Ihrough profit and loss. The (ollowing tabla illusirates the summarised financial information of the Company's investment in FBN
Insurance Lid:

Detaits of invesimen! in material associated companies:

FBN Insurance Lid
{Incorporated in Nigeria)

Number of shares held - 1,867,758
Interes! in issued share capital % - 35
Share of garmings aller tax RO00 - 162,781
Dislrbutions received R'000 - 29691
Aggregale post-acquisition reserves altributable o shareholders R'000 . 261,500
Financial information as at 31 December - lolal

Earnings aliributable to shareholders R000 - 56,973
Current assets R'000 - 57,847
Non-currenl assels R000 . 1,691,107
Cument kabilities R'000 - 144,821
Mon-currenl liabillies R000 - 1223504
Equity R'000 - 380,538
Fair value of interest in associale R'000 - 195,155
Gross premiums R'000 - 930,213
Total comprehensive income R'000 - 162,781

6.3 Equities and similar secuities

Equilies and similar securilies - Listed 1,024,750 1,127,460

Total equities and similar securites 1024750 1,127,460
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Manidatorily Expected credit
measured al  Designaled as oss slowance
6. Investments {continued) farvalue  alfair value for financial
6.4. Investments other tihan Ihrough profit  through proft Amorisedcost  asselsal  Amortised cost
equities and similar of loss orloss  Tofal fair value Gioss amortised cost Nat Total
securities R0G R00 RO00 ROGE RO00 R'000 R000
31 December 2018
Interest bearing invesiments 1,227 189 1,227,189 - 1,227,189
Government 365418 365,418 - 365,418
Comporate 881,771 861,771 - 861,711
Structured transaclions 71,162 8,064 79,226 79,226
Invesiment funds 2971642 - 2,971,642 - 2,971,642
Cash_deposits and smmilar securiles - 1474712 1,474,712 - 1,474,712
Total investments other than
equities and similar securities 3,042,604 2,709 965 5,152,769 - B 5,752,769
Designated at
fair valua l.oans and
through profit Held for trading receivables at
ot loss atfair value  amortised cost Totel
R'000 Rro00 Rio0 R3O
31 December 2017
Interest bearing investmenls 1,747,183 - 1,747,183
Government interest bearing invesiments 325,527 - 325,527
Caorporale interest bearing investments 1,421,656 1,421,656
Structured Iransactions 6,040 6,040
Invesiment funds 1,857,789 1,857,789
Cash, deposits and smilar securties 574177 514,117
Total Investments other than equities and similar securities 4,185,189 - . 4,185,189
Tha amount of change, during Iho period and cumulatively, in tho far valua of the lsans and bles that is alirbutablo lo thanges in the crodit risk of the fnancial assol is determinod as

tha change triggered by kactors other han changes in bonchemark inberest rates, The impadl of changes in crodil risk for 2048 nd 2017 was ot matosial.

Maturity analysls of investments other Otolyear 1tto5years >5years  Openended Total
than equities and similar securities R000 R'000 R'000 R'00D R'000

31 December 2018

Interes bearing investments 708,329 289,143 2,17 - 1,227,189
Government inlerest bearing investmenls 120,657 50,087 194,674 . 365,418
Corporals interesl bearing investments 587,672 239056 35,043 - 861,771

Struclured fransactions 71,162 8,064 - - 79,226

Investment funds ™ - . . 2971642 2,971,642

Cash, deposits and sinilar securilies 310,376 1,164,336 - - 1474712

Total investments other than equities and similar securities 1,069,867 1,461,543 29717 2971642 5,752,769

" |nyestment funds aro classified a8 opon ended. Asscls are considered open ended when Lhey have no fived matunity dato or regulady Iraded to meal liquidily requirements
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6. Investments (continued)
64. Investments ather than equiies and similar securities (continued)
Maturity analysis of investments other Oto 1 year 110 5 years >5years Open ended Total
than equities and similar securities (continued) R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'¢00
31 December 2017
Interast bearing investmenls 577.165 967 564 202,454 1,747,183
Government interes! bearing invesiments 50070 81,056 194,401 325527
Corporate inferest bearing investments 527 085 886,508 8,053 1421856
Structured transactions {55.450) 61,490 . 6,040
Investmenl funds ™ - - 1,857,789 1.857,789
Cash, deposis and smilar securities 342953 231,224 - 74177
Toal investments other than
equities and similar securities 564 668 1,260,278 202,454 1,857,789 4,185,189

Y |nyestment funds are classilied as open ended Assels are considered open ended when lhey have no flixed maturity date or regularly fraded lo meet

liquidty requrements

Total non Effect of an 1%

finked equity increase/decraase In equity

exposure prices an carrying valus
Equity price risk sensitivity R'000 +% -1%
31 December 2018
Equihies and swn lar securities 987,937 9879 19,879)
Investment lunds 1,456,854 14,559 {14,559)
Slructured transactions 71,162 712 {12)
Total 2514953 25,150 {25,150)
31 December 2017
Equiies and smidar securities 1085122 10,851 {10,851}
Invesiment lunds 1.491.417 14914 (14,914)
Structured transaclions (59711} (597) 597
Total 2516828 25,168 (25,168)
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6. Investments (continued)
6.5 Falr value disclosures
Valualion lechniques used in delermining the fair value of linancial inslruments measured at lar value.
Significant
Applicable to Unobservable
Instrument level Valuation basis Main assumptions input
|investmenl in subsidianes and associates 23 Group Equity Value, Nel Asset Value| Bond and interbank swap interest | Cosl of capilal
[NAV) rate curve, Cosl of Capilal,
Consumer price index
Interest-beaning invesiments (including 2 Discounted cash flow model (DCF), | Bond and inlerbank swap interest nfa
insurance polices) Quoled pulfsurrander price by issuer| rate curve, Consumer price index
Structured lransaclions and invesiment funds 2 Quioted (exi) price prowided by fund nfa nja
manager
Investment contract liabidities 2 Currend unt pnice of underlying | Bond and interbank swap interest na
uniised linanctal asset, mulliplied by| rate curve, Consumer price index
the number of units held Bond inlerest rate curve
Cash, deposits and smilar secunlies 2 Discounted cash llow model {DCF) | Bond and inrterbank swap inlerest nfa
rale curve
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Fair value hlerarchy R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000
31 December 2018
nvesimant in subsidianes and associated compamies - 14 443 862 412031 14,855,893
Equities and smilar securiles 1,024,750 . . 1,024 750
Intetest baaring invesimenls 260,330 945,859 1,227,189
Siructured ransactions 8.064 71.162 79.226
lnvestment funds 2895813 75629 - 2971642
Cash deposits and similar securies - 1474712 1474712
Tolal invesiments al far value 4,208,957 17012 424 412,031 21,633,412
Investment conlrad liabililies - 15,162,291 - 15,162 291
Total liabililies al far value - 15,162,201 - 15162291
1 Sructured Iransactions includes net derivative liabilities
31 December 2017
Invastment in subsidiaries and associaled companies - 16,293,891 516,978 16,810 865
Equities and simifar securities 1,127,460 . . 1,127 460
Interest bearing investments 308,819 1,438,364 - 1,747,183
Shuclured fransactions 65,751 {59,711) - 6,040
Investment funds 1.7687.710 70,079 - 1,857,789
Cash deposils and similar securities 159,648 414529 - 574177
Total investments at fak value 3,449,388 18,157,152 516,978 22123518
Investment contract liabilities 15,782,069 - 15,762,069
Tolal liabililies at far value 15,782,069 - 15,782,069




Sanlam Developing Markets Limited
Notes (o the financlal statements

for the year ended 31 December 2018 42| Page
6. Investments (continued) 2018 2017
[ X3 Fair value disclosures fcontinued) R'0C0 R'000

Reconcilialion of movemenl in Level 3 fnancial instruments measured at farr value

nvestmant in subsidianes and

associaled companies

Financlal assets
Balance al lhe beginning of the year 516,978 681,679
Tolal gain in stalemenl of comprehensive incoms - investiment surplus 132811 50157
Disposals {237 853) {194,201)
Movement in working capital {5) (20,657)
Balance at end of year 412031 516978
Galns and losses (realised and unrealised) included in profit or loss
Total unreal==d gams mcluded in profit or loss for the period lor

assels heid a! the end of the reporting penod 132911 80,157

Intarest-beating
Investments

Transfers between categories R'000
Financial assets
31 December 2018
Transfer from Lavel 1 to Lavel 2

Transler from Level 2 fo Level 1

31 December 2017
Transfer from Level 110 Level 2
Transfer from Level 2 {o Level 1

{10.055)

nvesiments traded in a marke! that became inaclive during the year have been fransferred lrom Lavel 1 lo Leved 2. Conversely, invesiments traded in a

market that became aclive have been lransferred from Level 210 Level 1

Effectofa 1%  Effectofa 1%

Range of risk Increaseinrsk decrease n risk
Sensitivity of Level 3 inancial assets measured discount rate discountrate  discountrate
at falr value to changes in key assumptions % R000 R'00D

Financlal assets

31 December 2018

Invesiment in subidiaries and assodialed companias 7% {2.987) 284
1 December 2017

Invesiment in subsidiaries and associaled companies 21%- 2% (6.792) 1.218
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2018 07
7. Intercompany loans receivable R'000 R'000
Sanlam Share Trust Subsidiary of holding company 51,515 48,106
Alrican Life Properties (Pty) Ltd Subsidiary 1,629 974
Santam Limiled Joint venlure wilh subsidiary of holding company 622 627
Channel Life Limited Subsidiary of holding company - 288
Total intercompany Yoans 53,766 49995
Analysis of intercompany loans:
Cument 53,766 49995
Total intercompany loans 53,766 49,935

These lans ate unsecured and payable on demand. No inlerest is charged but these arrangements are subject 1o revision from time to time. The fair value
ol inler-company loans is approximated by ils carrying amount.

ECLon
financial assets Non-financial
Gross at amortised Net amortised Instruments

Falrvalue  amortised cost cost cost = Total
8. Trade and other receivables R'000 RO0C R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000
31 December 2018
Premiums receivable - 185,255 - 185255 185,255
Accrued investment income 24,404 - - - S 24 404
Accounts receivable 136 84,626 {12,316) 72310 126,608 201,054
Tolal trade and other receivables 24,540 269,881 {12,216) 257 565 128,608 410,713
31 December 2017
Premiums receivable 43,858
Accrued invesiment income 34,866
Accounts recaivable 143,538
Tolal irade and olher receivables 222,262

2018 2017

Classification of trade and other recelvables: R'00D R'000
Designated at fair value through profit of loss ' 24 540 .
Amortised cost 257,565 222,262
Non-financial instrument 1% 126,608 -
Tolal trade and other receivables 410,713 222 262

1t Thg amount of change, during the period and cumulatively, in the fair value of assols designated at hir valuo through profil of loss thal is attrbutablo to changes in crodit risk of tho
financial asset is dotermined a3 lhe change Ingyered by factors other than changes i tho banchmark inderest rata. The mipact of the changes in cradit risk for 2017 and 2018 was not

malerial

@b Nonefinaricial instruments refer to prepaid oxpenses, broher and agent commission deblers.

The faif valus of trade and other receivables is approximated by its carryng amounl. No trade and other receivables of the Company were pledged as
collateral. All lrade and other receivables are expected to ba racaved within one year
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8. Trade and other receivables (continued)
2018
Reconciliation of expected credit [osses R0
Accounts feceivable
Balance af tha beginning of the year -
[FRS transilional adjusiments {50,790}
Net measuremen! of loss allowance (12,316)
Batance at the end of the year (63,106}
Expecled credd losses have been provided as lollows:
Commission receivable {included in accounts receivable
- 50% of commission receivable ro active lied agents;
- 50% of commission receivable ro active sales representatives;
- 100% of commission receivable fo inactive sales representatives; and
« Broker commission receivable is based on the deblors which amount due is higher than net present value of unearned commission
- Targel of B3% is set as standard provision for brokers whosa oulslanding balanca is higher than the value of urearned commission
- 100% of the oulstanding amount for terminated brokers with higher risk assessmen! as delermned by the Company
2018 2017
9. Shate capital and premium R'O00 R'000
Share capital
Autherised
150 million ordinary shares of 10 cenls each 15,000 15,000
Issued
117 457 028 ordinary shares issued of 10 cenls oach 1,745 11,745
Share premium 841,818 841818
Total Issued share capltal and share premivm 853,563 853,563
Insurance Investment
10. Long-term policy Habilities contracts contracts Total
10.1.  Anelysis of movement in policy lisbiiities R'000 R'000 R'000
31 December 2018
Ingome 5.863.592 3,191,069 9,054,661
Premium incoma {nole 10 2} 5751896 3,768,447 9,520,343
Investmenl relutm 111,696 (577,378) {465,682)
Qutilow (5.744,154) {3,767,369) {9.511,523)
Policy beneltts (nola 10 3.) (661.416) {3.489.653) {4,151,069)
Fees, nsk premiums and other payments to shareholders’ fund (note 15} {5.082.738) (277.716) {5.360,454)
Mavement in reinsurance assets (864) - (864)
Movement in parhal surrenders . {43,478} {43,478)
Net movement for the year 118574 (619,778} (501,204)
Balance at beginning of year 3491938 15,782,069 19,274,008
Balance at end of year 3610513 15,162,291 16,772,804
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Insurance Investment

10. Long-term policy liabilities (continued) contracts contracts Total

10.1.  Analysis of movement in policy Habiiities (confinved) R'000 R'000 R'000

3 December 2017

Income 4,536,025 5,013,008 6949033
Premium mcome (note 102§ 4,673,082 3,191,328 7.864.411
invesiment relurn 262943 1,821.679 2,084,622

Cutfow {4,701,755) (3,895,555) {8,597,310)
Palicy benefits (note 103 ) (607.781) (3,379.205) {3,986,986)
Fees, risk premiums and other paymants to shareholders' Jund (nole 15} {4,093,974) (516,250) {4,610,324)

Movement in reinsurance assets {5,920} {21,975) (27,895)

Movement in parlial surranders . {84,271) (84.271)

Net movement for the year 228,350 1,011,207 1,238,557

Balance al baginning of year {Reslaled) 3,263,569 14,770,862 18,034,451

Balance al end of year 3,491,939 15,782,069 19,274,008

2018 2017

10.2.  Analysis of premivm Iincome R'000 R°00C

Individual business 9,445,139 7,794,443
Recurring 5,777,195 4,723,881
Singla 3,552,053 2938656
Continuations 115,881 131,906

Employee benelils busnass 75,204 £9,968
Recurring 75,204 £9,968

Total premium income 9,620,343 7.864.411

10.3.  Analysis of long-term policy benefits

Individua! business {4,129,35%) (3,952 220)
Malurity benefits {2,593,921) (2528,215)
Sumenders {1,089,767) (977 536)
Life and term annuilies {144,042) (126.002)
Dealh and disability benefits {218,307} {257 917)
Cash bonuses {83,294} (62.550)

Employee benefits business {21,718} {34,766)
Pensions {21,718) {34,766)

Tolal policy benefts (4.151,069) (3.986,986)




Sanlam Developing Markets Limited
Notes to the financial statements

for the year ended 31 December 2018 48 | Page
10. Long-term policy labllities (continued) 208 2017
10.4.  Composition of policy liabitities R'000 R'000
Individual business 18,524,303 19,004,536
Risk business (including inwards reinsurance) 692,222 578,764
Investments 17,825,605 18,418,666
Busness with no nvesiment guaraniees 7492223 6,702,502
Business with minimum investment guarantees 8,078,857 10,224 277
Smoothed bonus 1,339,728 1,415,692
Markel refaled and smoothed bonus 10,274 10,058
Fully guaranteed business 1,204,723 66,337
Combined policies 6,476 6,906
Employes benelils business 248,501 269,472
Risk business (inciuding inwards reinsurance) 18,062 2210
Invesiments 146,770 166.553
Linked business 100,197 112,874
Non guaranieed invesimants 46,573 53,679
Life Annuries 83,669 80,709
Tolal policy liabillies 18772804 19,274,008

The composition of policy contracts have been aligned with the new solvency regime compositions. Pricr year have bt rectassdied accordingly

10.5.  Maturity analysis of investment 0to1year 1to § years > 5 years Open ended Total
policy contracts R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

31 December 2018

Investments 2,434,391 10,643,686 114728 1,969,486 15,162,291
Linked business . - - 100,197 100,197
Business wilh no investmenl guarantees 616,230 4413164 111,631 571,501 5712526
Business wilh minimum investiment guarantees 1,764 593 5072133 2872 1,239,057 8,078,655
Smeothed bonus 7.347 1770 225 - 9,342
Markel refated and smoothed bonus - - - 10,274 10,274
Non guaranteed invesiments E - - 46,573 46,573
Fully guaranteed business 46,221 1.156,619 . 1,884 1,204,724

Tolal Invesiment policy confracts 2,434,301 10,643,686 114728 1,969,486 15,162,291

31 December 2017

Investments 3242707 10,817,365 133416 1,488,581 15,782,069
Linked business . - - 112,874 112,874
Business wath no investmenl guarantees 744,569 g7 212 129323 503,251 5,304,355
Business with minimum investmenl guarantees 2441033 6,970,983 3542 808,719 10,224,277
Smoothed bonus 7,459 2479 551 - 10,489
Markel refated and smaothed bonus - - - 10,058 10,058
Non guaranieed investmenis . . 53,679 53679
Fully gearanteed business 49 646 16,691 . - 66,337

Tolal invesiment policy contracts 3242707 10,917,365 133416 1,488,581 15,782,069

Investmenl policy contracts are classified as at la¥ value Ihrough profit o loss
The composition of invesimenl policy contracts have been aligned wilh the new solvency regme compositions. Prior year have been reclassified accordingly
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10. Long-term policy liabiliies (continued)

10.6.  Mafurity analysis of Insurance 0o 1 year 1to Syears > §years Open ended Total
policy contracts R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000
31 December 2018
Risk businass {including inwards reinsurancs) 16,814 4726 58,431 630,312 710,284
Investments 84,065 567,109 2,140 310 18,600 2,810,084
Business wilh no investment guaranteas 44507 339,899 1,079,950 15,241 1,479,657
Smoolhed bonus 39,556 227,210 1,060.360 3,259 1,330,387
Life Annuilies . - - 83,669 83669
Combined policies . 440 1985 . 6476
Tolal insurance policy conlracls 100,979 576,326 2,200,726 732,582 3610513
31 December 2017
Risk bustness (including inwards reinsurance) 18,077 12,345 53026 917,527 600,975
Invesiments 89,022 514,484 2,181,962 17,881 2803,349
Businass with no invesimenl guarantees 44914 282723 1,055,886 14,622 1.398,145
Smoolhed bonus 44,108 231,761 1,126,076 3,259 1.405,204
Life Annuities - . . 80,709 80.709
Combined policies . 4,198 2708 . 6,906
Total inswrance policy contracls 107,089 531,027 223769 616,117 3,491,539

These maturily analyses are based on Ihe valuation bases and melhodology set out in note 3. of the accounting policies
The composilion of insuranca policy contracts have been aligned with the new solvency regime compasilions. Prior year have been reclassified accordingly

2018 047
10.7.  Policy liabilities include: R'000 R'000
Provision for HIV / Aids and other pandemics 955,487 951,074
Caplital Gains
Income Tax Tax Total
. Deferred Tax asset/ (llability) R'000 R000 R'000
2018
Balance at the beginning of the year 1,240,292 {326.622) 813,670
Temporary differances {charged) / credited to staterent of comprehensive income {472,642} 224,457 {248,185)
Tax losses and credils (472,642) . (472 642)
Net unrealised investment surplusas on policyholders’ fund . 212544 212544
Net untealised investment surpluses on on sharehelders' fund - 11,913 11,913
Balance at the end of the year 767,650 (102,165) 665 485
017
Balance at the beginning of the year 931,586 (214,402) 717,164
Temporary dilferences (charged) / cedied o slatement of comprehensive income 308,706 (112,220) 196,466
Aecruals and provisions (169} - {169)
Tax losses and credits 308,875 - 308,875
Net unrealised investment surplusas on policyholders’ fund . {105,342) (105,342)
Net unrealised investimenl surplusas on on shareholders’ fund . (6.978) {6,878)

Balance at the end of the year 1,240,292 {326,622) 913670
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Capital Gains

11. Deferred Tax asset/ (llability) (continued) Income Tax Tax Total

Analysis of deferred (ax balances R'000 R'000 R'000

2018

Deferred tax asset 767.649 {91,187) 676.462
Tax losses and credils 767,849 . 767 649
Nel unrealised imvestmant surpluses on policyholders’ fund . {91,187) (91.187)

Deferred tax liability (10,877} (10.877)
Nal unrealised investmant surpluses on on shareholders' fund (10,977} {10977}

Balance at the end of the year 767 649 {102,164) 665 485

2017

Deferred tax asset 1.240.291 (303,731) 936 560
Tax losses and credils 1.240.291 - 1,240,291
Nel unrealised investment surpluses on policyholders’ fund - (303,731) {303.731)

Deferred tax Hability (22,890 {22,890)
Net unvealised invesiment surpluses on on shareholders' fund {22,890} (22,850)

Balance at the end of the year 1,240291 (326,629) 913,670

11.1.  Deferred tax assets raised in respect of pollcyholder funds

Tha faxalion of risk business writlen by the Company was amended Ihrough tha infroduction of a separale nsk policyholder tax fund (RPF) effective 1

January 2016,

Tha Company wiole large volumes of risk business in the past which generated a tax loss within the individual policy fund {IPF} on an annual basis. The level
ol the {ax loss ganerated annually by new risk business was of such an extent thal it was not considered probable that it would be fully ulilised Mo delerred
{ax asset was therefore recognised in respect of the fax loss. Wilh all new risk business now being writlen wilhin The RPF. {axable mvesiment income
generated by savings business remaining within the IPF will in fulwe ulilise the avalable tax loss. The Inlernational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
requrement for the recognition of a deferred fax asset in respect of the lax loss s herelore met, with an amount of R-58 millon recognised (2017 R27
milbion}. The recognition of the asset in respect of the pobcyholder fund did not result in a similar increase in investment contract liabililies in lems of IFRS,
causing a mismalch between policyholder assets and habilities. This mismalch s recognised in the other reserve. with movements in 1he mismalch induded

in the laxalion line in the income staterment

2048 017
12. Intercompany payable R'O00 R'000
Sanlam Life Insurance Limiled Holding company 208913 199,050
Channel Life Linuted Feliow subsidiary 662 .
Tetal nlercompany loans 209.575 199,050
Analysis of Intercompany loans:
Current 209,575 199,050
Total inlercompany loans 209,575 189050

These amounls are classdied as loans and payables. These loans are unsecured and payable on demand. No interes! = charged but ihese arangements
are subjec lo revision from tme lo tme. The far value of inter-company loans is approximated by its camying amount
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13. Trade and other payables R'000 R'0GD
Accounls payable 890,155 641,079
Liabilily for share based payments 29,628 32559
Policy benefts payable 296,673 230,970
Amounts due {o reinsurers 157 35
Operaling lease creditor 5,003 5497
Claims incurred but not reported 274,864 85255
Total rade and clher payables 1,496,480 1,005,395
Classification of trade and other payables:
Amorhised cost 1,186,985 1,005,395
Non-inancial instrument 309,495 .
Tolal frade and other payables 1,495,480 1,005,395

113 Non-francial instrumends inclido Sabisly for share based paymenls, operating foass creditor, income received in advanca and claims incurred but not reporied

The fair value of rade and olher payables is approximaled by ils carrying amount. Wilh the excephion of the liability for share based payments, trade and
other payables are payabla wilhin one year In respect of the liability for the share based payments, the amounts oulstanding are payable over tive years,
howsver weighted lowards three lo five years. The effect of discounting is considered immalefial.

Post-
Bonus retirement
provision medical aid Other Total
14. Provisions R'000 R'000 R'000 R000
2018
Balance at the beginnlng of the year 87 406 18.447 99 105,952
Charged to statement of comprehensive income 770 2669 1,881 5320
Adkional provisions 145,534 5,000 1,881 152,415
Unused amounis reversed - . - -
Ulilised during the year (144,764) {2,331) - {(2,331)
Balance at the end of the year 88,176 21,118 1,980 111,272
W7
Balance at the beginning of the year 75,229 18,855 2934 97.018
Charged to statement of comprehensive income 12477 {408) {2.835) 893
Adddional provisions 130,597 2,000 611 133,268
Unused amounls reversed - - (700} (700)
Ulilised during the year (118.420) {2,408} (2,806) (123,634)
Balance at the end of the year 87,406 18.447 9 105,952
2018 2017
Analysis of provisions: R'000 R'000
Current 90,157 87 506
Non-current 21,115 18,446
Tolal provisions 111,272 105,952
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14, Provisions {continued)

Post-retirement medical ald
This provision relales lo medical aid contnibutions for certain pensioners.

Bonus provision
This provision relates to bonus payments {o stafl

Other provision

Includes sundry provision for possible oulflows ansing from past events  The liming of selllement cannol reasonably be determined but the amount can be
reliably estimated.

2018 2017
15. Financial services income R'000 R000
Lony term insurance gross of reinsurance (note 101} 5,360,454 4610324
Long term insurance {nel of reinsurance) 5,348,630 4,601,355
Reinsurance premiums 11,824 8,969
Olher financial services income 124177 86,745
Tolal linancial services incoma 5,484 631 4,697,069
Analysts per revenue category
Long-term insurance lee income 5,360,454 4610324
Other fmancial services incomg 124477 86,745
Working capital 65,004 86,862
Cther 59,083 {117}
Tolal linancial services income 5,484,631 4,697 069
Disagyregation of revenue
South Africa Rest ol Alrica  Other Internalional Tolal
According to pnmary geography R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000
IFRS 15 Revenue 223999 . - 223999
Administration lees 223999 . - 223999
Revenue not within the scope of IFRS 15 5260632 . -

Telal financial services income 5,484 611 . . 5,484 631
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15. Financlal services income (continued)
Disaggregation of revenue
At a point in Nol in Ihe scope of
{me Cver teme IFRS 15 Tolal
According 1o trming of revenue recogniion RO R000 R'000
IFRS 15 Revenua 223999 - 223,999
Administration fees 223999 223999
Revenue not within the scope of IFRS 15 £,260,632 5,260,632
Total linancial services income 223999 5,260,632 5,484631
2018 w17
16. Reinsurance R'000 R'000
Reinsurance premium paid
Long-term insurance (11,824) (8,969)
Total reinsurance premium paid (11,824) {8,969}
Reinsurance claims received
Long-term insurance 13,130 41,756
Total reinsurance claims recaived 13,130 41,756
i7. Investment return
17.1.  Investment income
Equities and semilar securities 92,988 94184
Interast-bearing preference shares and siular securties 1,080,650 914,473
Total invesiment income 1,183,638 1,008,657
17.2.  investment surpluses / {losses)
Financial insiruments designated as at fair value through profit or loss - 1,301,205
Financial assets designated as at far value lvough profil of loss {1,405,286) -
Financial assats mandatority measured at fair value (hrough prolit of loss {46,805)
Tolal invesimenl supluses (1,452.091) 1,304 205
Investment surpluses Includes:
Foreign exchange losses (197.000) {197,375}
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18. Long-term Investment and insurance contract benefits R'000 R000

Instrance condracls (1,977,906) {1,618,412)
Net underwriling policy benefits {1,853,080) {1.313.713)
Alter fax invesimen refurn atiributable to insurance contract liabilities (note 10.1) {111,696} {262,943)
Reinsurance claims receaived (13,130) (41,756)

Investment conlracls 577,378 {1,821,679)
After tax investmenl relurn aliributable to investment contract fabilities (note 10.1 ) 577,378 {1.821,679)

Total gross underwriting policy banelils {1,400,528) {3,440,091)

Analysis of gross underwriting policy benefits:

Individual life {1.818.,541) {1.310,640)

Employee bensiils (47 669) {44,829)

Tolal gross underwriling policy benefils (1,866,210) (1,355,469)

19. Administration costs

Adminisiralion costs include:

Auditers’ remuneration 10,705 10,315
Audt fess: slalutory audit 10,705 10,315
Other services provided - -

Depreciation property and equipment (nole 1.) 21,49 18,261

Operaling leases - Properties 64,634 55,446

Consullancy fees 46971 37,050

Employee benafits 482,964 413,828
Salaries and other shori-erm benefits 445,580 382,457
Pension costs - defined contribution plans 24,358 20,688
Share based payment expense 13,043 10,683
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2. Taxation R'000 R'000

Analysis of income tax per category

Normal income lax (152,694) (547.612)
RSA normal income laxation (140,522) (537.418)
Forgign {3,383) (5.007)
Capilal gains fax {8.789) (5,187)

Deferred lax (248,186) 186,487
Normal tax (472.643) 30a707
Capital gains fax 224 457 {112.220)

Tax income / (expense) (400,880} {351,125)

The Company’s income lax is determined on the five funds basis applicable lo companies conducting ife insurance business. The fifth fund (Risk Policy
Fund - RPF) became eflective 1 January 2016. All new nisk products are requred to be afiocated o the RPF

The incorme lax charge relales {o the shareholders' fund where the Company does not have any assessed losses. The Company has a tax loss of R4 1
hillion (2017: 4.4 billion) in the policyholders’ fund, of which R2.1 billion (2017: R2 3 biflion} has nol been recognised The build-up of further assessed losses
wilhin the IPF has largely been eliminated by Ihe creation of the Risk Policy Fund (RPF) and the investment return eamed by the investments underlying the
investmenl policies should fully utilise the portion of the current calculated lax loss recognised as a deferred 1ax assel over lime

Reconclliaion of taxation atiributable to shareholders

Profit before tax 1,361,612 1,496,868
Slandard lax rale 28% 28%
Standard rate of taxation (381,251) (419,123)
Adjusted for:
Non-taxable income 5108 12,187
Disallowable expensas (3,695} {768)
Foreign lax rale differential {3.383) {5.007)
Investmenl surpluses 44,606 35819
Fund fransfer (movernent in deferred tax assets nol previously recognised) {87.771) 26,717
Withholding lax (4.494) (550)
Effective {ax {400,860} (351.125)

2. Commitments

Operating lease commitments
The busmess has the followsng fuure operating lease commiments:
lease rentals due wilhin ene year 37.961 36,665
Lease renfals due wilhin two lo live years 44,557 51,452
Tolal operaling lease commitments 82518 88,217

All operaling leasa commidments are in respeci of properly leased by our dislribution and service cenlres. Thess are in excess of 50 different leases. The
duration of these leases ranges from 3 lo 5 years on average. Annual escalation of these leases varies based on kocation from a CPl lo CP1 plus increase
(6% lo 10%). The ful details of all the leases are kept by Sanlam Group Faciliies and the Finance department
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22. Dividends

In 2018 a dividend of R 1,196 million {2017- R912 million) was declared and paid. Subsequent to 31 December 2018 a dividend of R785m was declared on
21 February 2019,

23. Critical accounting estimates and Judgements

Estimales and assumptions are an integral part of financial repoiting and as such have an impact on {hg amounis reported for the Company's assets and
liabilities. Management applies judgement in determining bes! estimales of fulure experience. These judgements are based on hislorical experignce and
teasonable expectations of fulure evenls and changes in experience. Estimates and assumplions are regularly updated to reflect actual experience. It is
reasonably possible that outcomes in lulure financial years will be ditferent to the curent assumptions and judgements, which could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the affected assels and liabilities.

The major items subject 1o the application of estimates, assumplions and judgements include;
*  The farr value of investments - nole 6;
+ The valuation of policy liabiliies - nole 10, 23.1.

The crilical estimates and judgemenls mads in applying the Company's accounting policies are summarised below. Given the correlation between
assumptions, it is nat possible to demonsirala the effect of changes in key assumplions whils! other assumplions remain unchanged Further, in some
inslances the sensiivilies are non-finear. Inferdependencies belween ceriain assumptions cannot be quantilied and are accordingly not included in the
sensilivity analyses, the primary example being the relalionship between economic conditions and lapse, surrender and paid-up risks

An importan! indicator of the accuracy of assumplions used by a Ide insurance company is Ihe extent of the experience varialions reflected in the Group
Equity Value earnings during a period.

231, Policy Nabifities in respect of long-ferm Insurance contracls and investment confracts

This disclosure should ba read in conjunclion wilh 1he valuation methodology as set in the accounling policies for policy abililies on pages 26 to 28.

The following process is follkwed fa delermine Ihe valyation assumplions:
* Delemming the best estimae for a parlicular assumption.
+ Preserbed margins are then applied as specified in SAP104

* Discretionary margins may be applied as required by the valuation methodology of i he Head of Acluarial Function considers such margins necessary
lo cover the risks inherent in the contracts.

Tha best estimala of fulre experience & determined as follows

a) Investmant return

Econornic assumplions are derived with reference to the yiekd al the valuation date on the risk free yiekd curve at duration consstent wilh that of 1he liabilities.
The duration of the yield curve used was 5 years (2017 § years) The appropriale assel composihon of the various asset portioiios, invesiment
management expenses, laxes af currenl tax rates and charges for mvesimant guarantees are faken into accounl in determining the valualion discount rate
for each portichio. The assumplions adopled allow for 1he currenl and expecled future tax position of the Company

The econamic assumplions are as loflows: 2018 017
+ Fixed interest 8.60% 8.00%
+ Equilies 12.10% 11.50%
+ Properly 960% 9.00%
¢+ Cash 7.60% 7 00%

Expense inflalion is also based on Ihe fixed inlerest yield and is assumed 1o be 6 6% {2017 6%)
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23. Critical accounting estimates and Judgements (coninued)
234, Pollcy llabitities in respect of long-term insurance coniracts and Investment contracts {continued)}

b) Future bonus rates for participaling business

Assumed fulure bonus rales are determined lo be consistent walh the assumed investment refurns.

¢) Decremenis

Demographic assumplions including morlality, morbidity and persistency rates are derived directly from recenl experience and are adjusted for anlicipaled
fulure frends.

Investigations are performed at lkeast annually and the most recent investigations were performed in June 2018, The fulure davelopmenl of AIDS mortalily 1s
projecied in lina with the requirements of APN 105 of the Actuarial Sociely.

d) Expenses

Fulure expenses are projectad on a per policy basis where the per-policy expense is derived from the higher of budget 2019 expensas and aclual 2018
expenses and deflatedlescalaled at the assumed expense inflation rate. Renewal expenses are delemined by removing acquisition costs and non-ecurring
expenses from the lotal expenses and adding an allowance for fulure project costs which is derived from an analysis of historical once-olf costs.

8) Margins

Compulsary marging
SAP104 requires that the following compulsory margins should be added lo the best estimata assumplions for determining the policyholder liabilties.

Assumplion Margin

Mortaldy 7.5% {increasa lor assurance, decrease for annuibes)

Morbidity 10%

Medcal 15%

Lapse 25% (e g if the best estmate is 10%. the margin 15 2.5%)

Disability income benefits in paymenl 10%

Sumendets 10% (mcrease o decreass, depending on which alternative increases policyholder habilies)

Expenses 10%

Expense inflation 10% {of estimaled escalation rale)

Charge against investmenl return 25 basis points in lhe management lee o an equivalent asset-based of inversiment
performance-based margin

Discrationary margns

Future voluniary premium increases are profitable and are therefore ignored in line with SAP 104 In order to ensure appropriate recognilion of profit over the
Iife of a coniract, no policy is permitted to have an overall negative liabity. The SOM Cumulus product rangs is currently valued on a retrospectve basis
which is based on the value of the un funds less a lair valus adjustment, which introduces a discrationary margin when compared to a prospeclive (FSV)
valuation No other disretionary margins are added.

4. Retirement benefits obligatons

The Company provides relirement benefils for employees and former employees. All employees are now an a delined confrbution scheme. A few employees
were on a delined benefil scheme up to 28 February 2015 and wete then Uanslered 1o The defined canlribution scheme. The defined benefit scheme now
only pays pensions lo former employees but there remained a share of surplus in respect of lhe kansferred employees, amounting to R11.8m, which was
translerred 1o the dalined conlribufion funds in March 2017, The assats of all hese schemes are held i independent trust funds. administered in lems of
ihe Pension Funds Act ol 1956 (as amended)

The defined benelit schema currenlly has assats in excess of its liabilities.
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. Retirement benefits obligations {continued)

The Company has an cbligalion 1o fund a porlion of the poslelirement-medical contributions for employees and former employees who retired from the
Company This applies only to stalf employed prior to June 1998 because employment confracts issued after thes dale do not impose this obligalion on the

employer
Defined benefit pension fund 2018 2017
Number of funds 1 i
Number of employees covered by fund 0 0
Number of pansioners covered by fund 120 128
Company contribution to the fund during Ihe year ROm ROmM
Frequency of vatualion. Annually Annually
Lalest valualion date. 201812 20071231
Thes fund was linancially sound according to the latest independent valuation
Pnincipal actuarial assumplions af falesl valuation date per annum:
+ Pre-telrement discount rate nfa nfa
+ Post-relvemenl discount rale 10.10% 983%
+ Fulure salary increases nfa nfa
+ Expecledreturn on assels 983% 9.82%
+  Aclual relurn on assels -3.00% 14.10%
Defined contiibution penslon fund
Number of employeas covered by fund 5,472 5032
Contribution lo the fund during the year R67.7m R59.0m
Post-retirement medical aid obligations:
Principal acluarial assumplions:
+ Pre-retrement descount rate na nla
+ Relurns for All Bond Index (ALBI} 10.10% 9.83%
+ BExpecled merease in medical ad contributions S10% 8.83%
2018 2017
Defined Benefit Plan R'000 R'000
Amounts recognised In the Statement of financial position
Presenl value of funded obligations {88,095} {89,560)
Farr value ol plan assels 92,020 104,929
Nel assels 3925 15,349
Eifect of the assel caifing {3.925) {15,349)

Net liabilily included in statement of financial posilion
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Actuarial
value of fund  Present value of Net asset/
24, Retirement benefits obligations (continued) assels fund obligations  Asset ceiling (iability)
2018
Batanice at the beginning of the year 104,929 {89.580) {15.349)
Movement for the year (12909} 1,485 11,424
Interest income/{expanse) 10,315 {8,806) (1,509) .
Returns from plan assets. axciuding amounts included (n interast [14,224) . - (14.224)
Beneld payments {9.000) 9907 - 807
Actuarial gans and losses . 384 - 384
Gain/{less) on seltlement - -
Effect of limiting a net delined benelil asset to lhe assel celing 12933 12933
Balance at end of year 92020 {88,095) {3,925) -
2017
Balance al lhe beginning of the year 114,120 {103,619) {10,501) -
Movement for the year {9,191) 14,039 {4,848)
Interest incomeX{expense} 11,207 (10.175) {1,031) 1
Returns from plan assets. exciuding amourts included in inferest 2644 - - 2,644
Beneft payments {11,000 8,656 - {2,344}
Acluarial gains and losses - 3516 - 3516
Gain/{loss) on seltlement {12.042) 12,042 . .
Effect of limiling a net defined benelit assel to the asset cailing - - (3.817) {3,847}
Balance af end of year 104,929 {83,580 (15,349}
018 017
Fund assets comprise: R'000 R'000
Equities and smilar securdies 35,171 40,602
Inferest-beaning investiments 41,202 44,065
Investmenl funds 14,598 18,628
Structured transactions - 15
Cash. deposits and similar securibes 1,049 1619
Total lund assels 92,020 104,929

Defined benefit plan - Net expenses recognised In profit and loss

Past service cosl

Total included in staff costs
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M. Retirement benefits obligations {continued)

The following discounted benefits are expected payments to be <1 year 1to 5 years > 5 years Total
made in the future years out of the defined benefit plan: R'000 R'00C R'000 R'000

31 December 2018 7.900 13,601 66,594 88,095

31 December 2017 7.800 15,800 65,980 89,580

% Change |n assumed actuaral
assumptions

Sensitivity analysis 2% Increase 2% Decrease

Aggregate interesl cosi 447 {511)

Defined benefit cbligation for post-employment medical benefits 4425 {5,056}

The sensilivity analysis above has been determined by varying the invesiment return actuartal assumptions. The assumplions made when preparing lhe
sensitivity analy='s have been grouped inlo two scenatios In scenario one {he base investment relurn (aflecting the pre- and post- retirement discounl rate
and expecied rate of return] has been decreased by 2% and in scenario fwo Ihe base invesiment relurn has increased by 2%

2018 2017
Post-employment medical ald benefits R'00D R'000
Amounts recognised in the statement of inanclal position
Prasent valug of lunded obligalions {28,456) (29,010
Farr value of plan assels 28,456 29.010
Net assels -
Elfect of the asset celling -
Nel liability included in stalement of financial posihon - -
Post-employment medical aid benefits - Net expensas recognised In profit and loss
Inferast on cbligation 2852 3,150
Tolal included in staff costs 2,852 3150
25. Related parties
Holding company
The ultimate Holding Company i Santam Limied Defails of invesiments in Sanlam Limied are as folkws:

2018 2017
No of Shares 337,016 287,386
Fair value (R'000) 28,747 25,003
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25, Related parties (continued)

During the year the Company paid Sanfam Group Companies for ihe following:

2018 Fiuk
R'000 R'000
HNature of the transaction Related party DebitCredity  Debit/(Credit)
Short term insurance Sanlam Lita Insurance Lid i 17
Intesnial audi Santam Lile Insuranes Lid ™" 4249 4,091
Porlfolio management fees Sanlam Invesiment Managemend (Ply) Ltd 14.446 15,420
Rental and parking Santam Lile Insurance Ltd 1302 1122
Corporate facilily Sanlam Life Insurance Lid 1" 1,590 1,606
iT Services Sanlam Life Insurance Lid " 55,608 54,968
Policy administration fea received Channel Life Linited ™ (5,943) (10,124)
Pension administration fee Sanlam Life Insurance Lid 5,551 4635
Franchise lee Sanlam Life Insurance Lid ¥ 19,978 19,009
Services cenlres fees Sanlam Life Insurance Lid " 343 45938
SAP administration lee Sanlam Lifa Insurance Lid ™! 2568 22710
Collecting commission Muli-data @ 103 78
Sale of associale Sanlam Emerging Markels (Piy) Ltd (237 853) {194.201)
" Holding company
' Fellow subsidiary
'2* Division ol tho ultimato holding company
The Company has {he following intercompany batances wilh group companies.
Nature of the transaction Related party
Intercompany; Loan receivable Sanlam Share Trust 51,515 48,106
Intercompany. Loan receivablef{payable) Channel Life Limiled * {662) 288
Intercompany: Loan receivable Arican Life Properties (Piy) Lid® 1628 974
Inlercompany’ Loan receivable Santam Limited 622 627
Intercompany” Loan payable Sanlam Lifo Insurance Lid 14 (208,913) {199.051}
Intercompany” Loan receivable Principal subsidiary and associated companies 13,022 503 13.327 063
" Subtidiary of the uitmata holding company
) Fellow subsidiary
1 gans wilh subsidiary and iated companics ara disclosed in note 6.1, 6.2 and note 28.

% Holding company

Transaclions with directors

Remuneration is paid lo drectors in the form of lees lo non-executive direclors who are not also Santam Group execuives and in the form of remuneration fo
axecutive directors of the Company Non-executive direclors who are also Sanlam Group executives are paid in the foren of remuneration within the Sanlam
Group. All dreclors of the Company have notfied thal they did not have a material ileres] n any contract of significance with ihe Company or any ol its
subsidiaries, which could have given rise to a conflict of interest during the period, with the exception of contracts wihin the Sanlam Group. Details retating lo
direclors’ emoluments are included in nole 19 1

Subsidiaries and assoctated companies

During the period the Company and #s subsidiaries and associated companies enlered into various transactions in Lhe ordinary course of business. These
lransactions occurred under terms and conddions that are no less favourable than Ihose arranged with third parlies

The Company advanced, repaid and received loans from ils subsidiaries and associales during the current and previous periods. Details of the loans and
mvestmenls in subsidiaries and associates are disclosed in note 6.1 andnote § 2.
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25. Related parties (continued)

Key management personnel compensation

For the purpose of 1AS 24 ‘relaled parly disclosures’. key management are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and
conlrolling the activities of the Company, dreclly or indirectly, including any declor (whelher execubive or olherwise) of the Company Details of the
compensation paid lo the board of directors are disclosed in nole 191

Key management personnel include members of the Executive Committee of the Company

2018 017
Compensation paid to the Company’s key management personnel is as follows: R000 R'¢00
Shorl-term employes banefits 29,763 26,857
Sharg based payments 5,831 12,792
Tolal key imanagement personnel compensalion 34,594 39,649
The above compensation is for 15 contribuling stali members (2017 13) considered {o be pari of key managemenl.
26. Notes to the statement of cash lows
26.1.  Cash generated by operations
Prolit belore tax per slatemenl of comprehensive income 1,361,612 1,496,868
Movement on long leam policy contracls {501,204) 1,239,507
Non-cash llow ifems 1,571,145 {1,178,082)
Deprecialion 1 21,491 18,261
Amorlisation of langible assets 3 5,100 3976
Movemenl in provisions 5320 8,934
Deferred acquisilions cosl expensed 4 87,143 91,953
Invesiment surpluses 172 1452091 (1,301,209)
items disclosed separalely {1,183,638) (1,008,657)
Interest received 171 (1,090,650} {914,473)
Dividands received 171 {92,988) (94,184)
Decrease in intercompany loans recewable (3771 (8.663)
Increase ! (decreasa) in inlercompany kans payable 10,525 52,068
Delemed acquisition cosl paid (75,427) {91,694)
Increase in net working capilal assets and liabidias 302,634 114,054
Net acquisition of investiments {1,198,031) (260,192)
Nel acquisilion of fixed assets "’ 1 {36,024) (24.520)
Net Acquisition of infangble assels 3 - {10,000)
Cash generated by operations 246,821 320,739
™ Roter fo nalo 31 for dotails on the restalement
26.2.  Reconciliation of taxation paid
Movement between taxalion balance at the beginning of the year and bafance al end of year (292,776) 29,646
Less movement for notmal taxation though the income slatement (152,694) {547.612)

Taxation paid (445,470) (517,966)
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2018 2017
26.3.  Cash, deposits and similar securities R'000 R'000
Working capilal Cash, deposils and similar securilies 1,088,729 1,061,741
Tolal cash, deposits and similar securities 1,088,729 1,061,741
27, Disposal of subsidiaries
Fair value of invesimenl sold - (194,201}
Consideration receved - 194,201
Profit on disposal of subsidiary -

Ouring 2017 the Company sold its investment in Sanlam Life Insurance Zambia Lid (incorporaled m Zambia) and Alrican Lile Assurance Company
(Tanzanta) Lid {incorporated in Tanzania) lo Sanlam Emerging Markels {Ply) Ltd at far value.

28. Collateral

The followang collateral has been received in respect of securilies lending aclivities conducted:

Total value of the loans 147,722 153,601
Fair value of collateral accepted as security for these activibes 223366 176,042
Collaleral as % of loans 151% 115%
Collateral consisted of
Cash 20% 15%
Money Market 20% 15%
Bonds %% 10%
Equdies 35% 8%
Bank Guarantees 22% 21%
Holding % Fair value of interest Loans
29. Principal subsidiary and 2018 07 2018 2017 2018 2017
assoclated companies Note 1 R'000 R'000 R°000 R'000
Principal subsidlary companies
Directly held
African Life Froperties (Ply) Lid ZAR 100 100 70575 71739 1629 974
Jomt venture wath Santam Limited ZAR 100 100 . . 622 827
SDM Investment Trust ZAR 100 100 1422225 2,967,633 13,021,638 13,326,257
Total 1,492,800 3,039,372 13,023,889 13,327,858
Associated companies
Nico Life Insurance Company Lid MWK 45 43 341,455 250085 243 179
(incorporated in Malaw)
FBN Insurance Lid (incorporaled in~~ NGN 35 195,155
Nigeria)
Total 341,455 445,240 243 179
Wole 1 Dotails of currenties
ZAR South Alncan Rand
ZMK Zambran Kwacha
125 Tanzanian Shilkngs
NGN Nigerian Naim

MWE Malowian Kwacha
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Effect as aresult of an

Fairvalue of  increasefdecrease in fair value

29. Princlpal subsidiary and associated companies (confinued) Interest +1% 1%

Equity price risk sensitivity on the investment In subsidiaries R'000 R'000 R'000

2018

Principal subsidiary companles

Directly held

Alsican Life Properties {Pty) Lid 70,575 706 {706)

SOM Investmenl Trust 1,422,225 14222 {14,222)

Total 1,492,800 14,928 {14,928)

Assoclated companies

Nico Life Insurance Company Ltd (incorporated in Malawi) 341,455 3415 (3.415)

Total 341,455 3415 3,415)

2017

Principal subsidiary companies

Directly held

African Lile Properties (Piy} Lid 71739 717 (717)

SOM Investment Trust 2,967,633 29,676 {29.676)

Total 3,039,372 30,393 {30,393)

Associated companies

Nico Life Insurance Company Lid {incorporated in Malawi) 250,085 2,501 (2,501)

FBN Insurance Lid (incorporaled in Nigeria) 185,155 1,952 {1.952)

Total 445,240 4,453 {4,453

In respect of tha SDM tnvestment Trust there is axposure to equily risk as a result of invesiments in equity funds.

30. Adoption of new standards

IFRS 3 - Finantial Instruments

The principles with regards {o the classilication and measurement of financal assets and liabilites, measuring mpairmenl allowances for linancial assels
and hedge accounting have been amanded dug fo Ihe implemenlation of ihe new accounting standard. IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments, applicable lo all
accounling periods beginning on of alter 1 January 2018. Sanlam has mplemented the standard, other than he hedging provisions which have not yel besn
adopled, on a modified retrospeciive basks and therefore comparalives are not reslated and the impaci of the adoption is recognised in equity on 1 January
2018.

The key changes introduced by IFRS 9 are as follows:

Classficalion and measurement - financial assels are required 1o be measured and classfied based on the cash flow characleristics of the inslrument
and the business model under which the asset is managed. The classtfication and measuremenl of financial liabilifies is largely unchanged, wath the
exception of the amendment requring hal the own credil risk component of lair value movemenls on Rabilities designated at fair valua through profil of
loss now be presented in other comprehensive income.

+ Impaitment - IFRS 9 introduces an expected credil loss modal. This entails the recognution of an allowance for expected credit kss koking one year into
the fulure or over the liletime of the financial asset # the credit nsk

The majority of financial assels wete measured al far value Ihrough prolit and loss under 1AS39, and continue to be under IFRS 9, either because they are
mandalorily imeasured as such, or through designation.

The Company has assessed the mpacl of the adoption of IFRS 9 linanctal instruments on its stalement of financial position and concluded that there is no
material impact for the Company
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30. Adoplion of new standards {continued)

IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers
This standard relates fo the measurement. classification and disclosure of revenue lrom contracls with customers of the Company

The key factors in the applicalion of IFRS 15 are as follows:
* Afive-slep model is applied lo dalermine when lo racognise revenue Irom contracts with cuslomers, and at what amount.
+ Revenue is recognised when (of as) Sanlam salisfies a performanice obligation and iransfers control of goods or services lo a cuslomer at the amount fo
which the Company expects lo be entilled and thal s allocated to thal specific performance obligation

+ Depending on whelher certain criteria are mel, favenue is recognised either over time or at a point in lime, as or when conlrol of the goods of services is
Iransfemed to the customer,

* More extensive and detailed disclosurs are required in ferms of IFRS 15.

The Company has assessed the mpact of the adoplion of IFRS 15 on opening retained earnings and concludad that there is no quaniitative mpact for the
company

n Restatement of company cash flow statement

Management reassessed Ihe presentation of the Company's cash flow stalemenl in respact of cash flows relaling to the acquisilion and disposal of
investments, fixed and inlangible assels thal are backing its core operations. Thess were praviously classified as investing cash fiows and crealed a
disconnec! belween operating and invesling cash flows, as these are funded by cash flows associaled with the originalion of insurance and investimenl
contracts, which are respeclively treated as operaling cash fiows, Management concluded thal presenting acquisilions and disposals of investments, fixed
and intangible assels as part of operating cash lows more accurately reflects 1o 1he users of the financial slatements, the link between the ability fo generate
cash from investment and insurance coniracls and the ulilisation of those cash fiows on various investments, fixed and inlangible assets.

2017
As previously
reported Adjustments Restated

Impact of restatement R'000 R'000 R'000
Cash flows from operating activities 194,136 (294,7112) {100,576)
Cash fNlows from investing activities (100,511) 204712 194,201

Nel acquistion of investments {260,192} 260,192

Acquisition of subsidiaries and associates - . -

Digposal of subsidiaries and associated companies 194,201 . 194,201

Purchasss of equipmant (26,542) 26542 .

Disposal of equipment 2,022 (2,022}

Acquisition of intangible assels {10.000) 10,000

The abave restatement did not have any impact on the Company's stalement of financial postion. stalement of comprehensive income and statement of
changes in equily
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Capital Management Report

1. Objactive

Responsible capital managemenl and allocation i an essential component of mesting the Company's slralegic objeclive of shared value creation for all
stakeholders, including maximising shareholder value. The capital valua used by the Company as the primary petformance measurement basa is Group
Equily Valua (GEV). The management of lhe Company's capilal base requires a continuous review of oplimal capital levels, including {he use of alternative
sources of funding, to maximise return on GEV (RoGEV) and ensura appropriale solvency levels as a safeguard to our chenls, regulators and broader
society. The Company has an inlegrated capital and tisk management approach. The amounl of capital required by the various business is directly linked fo
theif expasurs o financial and operational risks. Accordingly, risk management is an important companent of responsible capilal management and allocation

2. Capital atfocation methodology

The methodology used 1o delenmine the altocation of required capital lo South African covered business is aligned with the new Prudential Standards, which
replaced the Financial Soundness Valualion (FSV) regime from 1 July 2018.

Atthe end af 2018 the Company set an appropriate level of required capital for Sankam Developing Markets Limded's covered business under the Prudential
Standards, based on a Standard Formuta Solvency Capial Requiremenl (SCR) largeted cover range of between 170% and 210% over a 10-year pojection
period. The revised approach remains afigned with the overarching principle to set the level and nalure of the supporting capilal taking cognisance of
minimum regulalory capital requirements, as well as economic, risk and growdh consideralions.

The Company's approach o ensure appropriale working capital levels in these operations is twafold.
* The Company’s miernal dividend policy is based on the annual declaration of all discretionary capital to shareholders that is not required for normal
operations or expansion; and
* Performance largets are set for company based on an expacted return on Ihe far value of the businesses, equal to ther intetral hurdle rates. This
ensures that all non-produclive working capila! is declared as a dividend to the shareholders.

3 Capital management
XA Covered business (life insurance aperations)

The Company's covered business requies significantly higher lsvels of aliocated capital than {he other operations. The optimisalion of long term requied
capilal 1s accordingly a primary focus area of the Company's capital management philosophy given the significant potential to enhance shareholder valua,
whils maintaining appropriate solvency levels. The following main siralegies are used fo achieve this cbjective:

* Appropnate matching of assels and liabiliies for policyholder solufions. This is sspecially importani for long-duration policyholder solutions that expase
the Company to inferesl rate risk, such as nonparticipating annuilies.

* Dus regard 15 given lo liquidity rzsk management, particular where derivatives are ufilised lor malching purposas.

* Managing the impac! of new business on capilal requiremants by limiting volumes of capilal infensive new busingss.

* The assel m of the long-lerm required capital, as well as estate reserves in the policyholder porifolics also mpact the overall capital requiremenl The
Company’s balance sheet management function modets the overall risk and expected relurn on assats, ncluding the impact on requred capital to
determine the oplimal asse! mix in this regard.

* Ulilisation of capilal diversilicalion benefits, when desmed necessary, whereby the capital requirements can b parlly covered by invesiments in other
Company operations, within {he imits available in Ihe particular regulatory regime.

* Management of operalional risk: internal confrols and various other cperalional risk management processes are used to reduca operational risk ang
commensurately the allowance lor this risk in the calculation of required capital.

« The optimal use of hedges, e g. Ihe interest rale derivatives currenlly in place.

+ Efficien! sslection of remsurance exposures.

The Company conlinues lo improve and furlher develop its capital managemenl models and processes in ine wilh mternational bes! practice.

32 Other operations

The performance measurement of alher operations is based on the refurn achieved on the fair value of the businesses. Risk-adjusted return largels are set
for the businesses fo ensure thal each business unils' return target fakes cognisance of the inhesent risks of the business. This approach ensures that the
management teams are focused on operational sirategias thal will optimise he return on lar value, Ihereby conlrbuting lo the Company's main objective of
optimising RoGEV
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Capital Management Report {continued)
4, Saplam Group Estate commitiee

The Santam Group Eslale commiltes, an inlernal management commitlee, 15 responsible for reviewing and overseeing the management of the Group's
shareholders capital base (inclusive of the estate reserves) i lerms of the specific siralegies approved by the Board.
5. Discretionary capital

Any capilal in excess of recuirements, and not cptimally ulilsed, fs idenlified on a conlinuous basis. The pursut of struclural growlh initiatives has been sel
as the prelered application of Group capilal, subject to such indiatives yielding the applicable hurdie rale and being complementary o or i support of Group
strategy. Any discretionary capital not efficiently redeployed wil be returned to shareholders in the mosl sffective form

B, Capital adequacy

For regulatory purposes. the Company's capital adequacy is assessed under the new Insurance Act and the relevant Prudential Slandards, which gave
effect fo the Solvency Assessmant and Management (SAM) regme from 1 July 2018. Capital adequacy 15 measured with referenca lo the slandard formula
as specified under the Prudentsal Standards, this 1sreferred lo as the Soltvency Captal Requirement {*SCR).

The following lable provides an analysis of Ihe solvency of the Company and quality of Company's capital

2018 2017

R000 R000
Own Funds eligble to meet SCR 10,956,466 110,279,308
SCR 5163914 5071340
Surplus 5,792,552 5,207,968
SCRcover H2% 203%
Tier 1 10956 466 10,279,308
Tier 2 - .
Tier 3 '
Tatal 10,956,466 10,279,308

The valuation of assels and policy habilitiss for prudential capital adequacy under the Prudential Slandards is different 1o the methodology lor the published
IFRS results.
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Capital Management Report {continued)
The following lable provides a reconcilialion between the IFRS shareholders’ fund for tha Company and its SAM Own Funds.
2018 2017
Reconcillation of IFRS Shareholders’ Fund to SAM Own Funds R'000 R'000
IFRS Shareholders’ fund 3,716,886 3,852,008
Adjusiments to IFRS carrying value {239.937) (240,828)
Rernove goodwil and inlangibles (31,971) (37.071)
Remave DAC (185,378} {197.034)
Reinsurance valualion differences (22,588) (6,663)
Adjusiments lo policyholder lisbilities from move to solvency basis 8,050,297 7.204679
Liability valuation differences 12836634 11,754 046
Impaci of risk margin {1,735377) (1,838.319)
Increase in net deferred lax liabilities resuling from habiliy va'uation differences above (3,042 960) {2,711.048)
SAM Basic Own Funds 11,535,246 10,915,859
Write down of olher reserves {578,760) (636,551)
SAM Own Funds eligible to meet SCR 10,956,466 10,275,308

The graph below shows the SCR ior 1he Company under SAM. The main contribudors to the SCR are market nsk and life risk. The main drivers of market risk
are exposure lo fmancial instruments {especially resulting from fulure product fee income being linked to policyholder Invesiment portfolios). interest rate
movements and the value of invesiment guarantees The main drivers of e risk include ipse assumptiors, the level of interesl rates as well as

moraltyfongevily assumplions.
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Risk Management Report
1. Introduction

Enterprise risk management! s the underlaking of risk for reward. A thorough underslanding of the risks accepled by a Company i the pursuit of iis
obiectives, iogelher with the strategies employed to manage those risks, is thus essential for a proper apprecialion of the affars of the Company

The management of the Company is committed o sound enterprise risk management practices. Active fisk awareness and cplimal managemen of risk
expasures are embedded lhroughout the business.

2. Definitons

Entities

Sanlam Group |santam Limied.

Santam Life Ins Lid Sanlam Life Insurance Limited {registration number 1998/021121/06)

Sanlam Life Sanlam Life Insurance which includes only businesses and divisions over which ils executive management and the
Sanlam Lile Insurance Board exercise managemen! control in terms of a mandaie from Sanfam Limited.

Sanlam Personal Finance (SPF) Sanlam Personal Finance Chusler, a division of Sanlam Life. i includes all subsdiaries and divisions within itg
management contral

SOM Sanlam Developing Markels Limiled {"the Company”)

Risk management terms

CRO Chief Risk Officer

ERM Enterprise Risk Managemenl, implying the highdevel collation of risk managemen related informalion and co-
ordlination of fisk management aclivities throughoul an enterprise, laking mto account the comelation and inter-
depandence of different risks. The process should take info account the sirategic goals of the organization as a
whole, as wall as the goals of the underlying subsidianes. Where possible, all risk should be aggregaled and
compared wilh Ihe overall 7isk appelite of the organzation

|inherent and residual risk Tha nel risk exposure can be quaniiied either inherently o on a residual basis.

«+  Inherenl valuation; The net exposure (likely mpact), withoul any miligalion or controls in place
+ Residual valuation: the nel exposure, allowing for the effectiveness of the exisling conlrols, as well as|
adddional risk mifigalion actions defined.
KRI's Kay Risk Indicators are indicalors of the levels of risks wilhin an organization or within sub-sels of the organization,

al a specific lme. Typically indicalive of underlying irends of known or unknown risk experience

Risk Risk i inherent in the business of the Company and is delined as the fhreat thal an event or action will adversely)
aifec) the Company's abilly to achieve is business objectives, including strategic, operalional, financial and
compliance objeclives. Business risk arises as much from lhe possibility that opportunities will not be realised as i
does from the posshiliy that threals will maleriafise.

Three types of risk can be idenlilied:
+  Opportunities: upside risks, o the offensive® aspects of risks (looking for opportunilies lo exploil specilic
risks)
+  Hazards: downside risks, of Ihe *delensive’ aspect of risks {focusing on prevention or miligalion of actions
that can generale losses)
+  Uncertatnties: the volatility aspect of risks {manage risk in order 1o achieve linancial performance within
defined ranges).
Risk appetite This is an overall indcation of Ihe level and fype of risk kal an organization 1s prepared fo accept in the pursuit of its|
goals. The risk appetite can be defined overall for SOM or for the respective business divisions and subsidiaries.
The risk appeile statement should remain stralegic in nalure.

Risk incident The materialising (whelher parlialiy or completely) of a risk, whelher the tisk has already been identified or not For
existing risks, related incidenis can assist in the quantification of the risk.
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2. Definitions {continued)
Risk management terms {continued)

Risk lolerance levels This is the mora lactical mierpretation of Ihe slrategic rsk appelile and provides business with cerlam boundangs |/
ranges for different nisk types. 1l can be defined edher
¢+ Qualiatively. On arelative scale (e.g high, moderate or low), or
+  CQuanlitalively: In ferms of a quantifiable melic {e g. s a nisk-adjusled shareholder value, like Return on
Group Equily value or Risk Adjusied Performance Measurement (RAPM)).
Emerging risks Emerging risks represent known or unknown risks with a significant polenlial impact on business, but for which thel
likely severdy for SOM has not been or is difficull to quantify (sither because the likefihood of such an event
joccurming is tnknown or because the full impact of such an event, occuming. should it malermlise. is unknown)

3 Scope and application of the pollcy
This policy applies to Ihe Company as delined in saction 2 above

The poicy is aligned with the Sanlam Group Enterprise Risk Management Policy as well as the Santam Personal Finance Enterprise Risk Management
Policy as amended from time lo {ime.

Risk management of all subsidiaries and business units where the Company exercises managemenl conirol, must adhere fo this policy In subsidiaries
where the Company does not exert full management contral.  the subsidiary is responsible for maintaining appropriate risk management and control
praclices le meel Ihe risk appelite as defined by the Company. Full and regular disclesure of the rrsk management activities and the results of the process
should be done fo the SDM - CRO.

4 Objectives of Entarprise Risk Management (ERM)

The primary objective of the Company's Entemtise Risk Management approach is to support the Sanlam Group in achiaving its primary objeclive of
oplimising the return an group equily value and maximising shareholder value. An effectiva risk management process will support the achievement of the
following secondary objeclives:

+ Tharealisation of the Company's sirategic business goals;

+ Saleguatding of the Company's assats and investmens (including inlormation),

+ Compliance wilh applicable laws, regulations, and supervisory requirements;

* Supperting business sustainability under nommal as well as under adverse operating conditions;

+ Reliability of reporting, and

*  Behaving responsibly fowards all stakeholders with a legitsnale interest in the Company

§. Risk management philosophy and appetite

The Board determines Ihe maximum acceptable level of risk that he Company may underlake - the Risk appetile. The Risk appetds ts deried from the
overall Risk appetile of the Sanlam Group {lypically expressed as required risk-based rate of return). In order {o monitor (he adherence fo this overall
strategic appetite, additional Risk {olerance levels are defined and monitored on a regular basis. The Company's risk policy provides the current Risk
tolerance levels. Malerial operating entilies within the Company must define similar folerance levels applicable to their level of operations

The ultmale tesponsibilily for the management of risk in lhe Company vests wilh management (first line of delence), assisted by 1he ERM structures {the
second line of dafence) and supported by Ihe risk management culture se! by Ihe Company Group Execidive Commiltes.

The SDM CRO defermines the relevant risk managemen! kamework for Iha Company in accordance wilh the Group Guidelines and policies The SOM CRO
monilors the risk managemant process and profite of the Company al an enterprise lavel and as such will rely on various specialist risk managemant
lunctions (such as the Risk & Capital Management ieam in SOM Actuarial).

In the execution of ils ERM responsibiiies, SOM musl comply wilh alf requirements set by the SPF and Sanlam Group. In particular, Ihe escalalion of risks lo
the aitention of the Sanlam Group must be done in accordance wilh the SDM Risk Escatation Policy, which is afigned with the SPF and Sanlam Group
tequiremenis.

The Sanlam Group CRO has the responsibilily to consider nsk management related decisions, risk mitigation achons, and risk taken by SDM, and has the
right lo velo risk tesponses if deemed datrmental o The Sanfam Group, or lo insist on measures {o reduce of restrict the detrimental effect. Such vetos must
ba reporied o the Sanlam Limited Board and SDM may appeal such intervention to the Sanlam Limited Board
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6. Significant risk categories

The identilication of risks and the reperling there-on are direcled by the Risk classificabon matrix which may be adjusted from time 1o time fo accommodate
the reporting requirements of ihe Santam Graup.

The major nisk categories for SOM are:
+ Insurance risk

+ Markel nsk

+ Cradi risk

+ Sirategicrisk

+ QOperational risk

+  Liquidity risk

1. Rlsk management process

The Company mus! establish and mainlain an effective and documented nsk management process. The process covers the planning, arranging and
controling of activities and resources 1o minmise the potential impact of nisks {o levels wlhin the tisk appetite Afthough Ihe risk management process is
considered a separale management discipline, il showld be inlegraled and aligned wilh the regular management processes of the organisation. The Sanlam
Group-wide ERM soltware, CURA, will be wlilised for the caplure and monitoring of all aperalional and business risks and significant incidenls of risk
materialising (where praclical).

The risk managemenl process is iteralive and can ba summanised as follows:

Understanding the Context #

: {M
I A [

%
Rish Analyiis 4 Monilor & Review
s — ‘/ F

l 3

Risk Treatment

71 Understanding the context
For the risk management processes to be elfeclive, it s imporlanl that the SDM Board, management and individuals assigned responsibibly for risk
managemenl clearly undersland the following

+ The relalionship belween lhe business and its operaling environment;

+ The business’s strengihs, weaknesses, opportunities and threals;

s The crucial elements thal might supporl or impar ils abiity to manage the risks i faces;

+ Tha business capabilities and its goals. objeciives, siralegies and values and the drivers of these

» The linancial planning cycle of ihe business.

The understanding and on-going monitoring of thesa aspects will assist in the pro-aclive identificalion of emerging and exisling nisks. The SDM CRO should
maintain nsk gvaluation critena and a logical. practical lramework for the identdfication and analysis of risk and is root causes. The SDM CRQ shoukd also
assist business 1o sel he goals, objectives and boundaries of the risk management process.

Tz Rish identification

During itvs qualitative step, the following should be defermined
« Whal s Iha nsk? {Clear dafiniion, highlighting lhe impact thal he risk pose fo the business).
+ Whal is Ihe lype and category of the risk?
+ What s Ihe root causes of lhe risk? {What will delesmine whether the nsk will materialise or the severity of the mpact)
+ What are lhe poleniial consequences, should the risk materialisa?
+ Which objectives of the business may be mpacted by ihe risk?
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72 Risk identification {continued)
Various techniques may be used by the respeclive levels of management 1o identify risk. Examples include fsk seli-assessment workshops, sirategy

sessions, analysis of write-offs. key risk indicators or losses, monitoring of conlrols in operations, analysis of key business drivers, anatysis of key processes
and analysis of rool causes of major external risk events.

Risk managers should work closely with other assurance providers {e.g. Internal and External Audt, Compliance and Forensic Investigations) lo ensure that
all significan! nsks are identttied {either mdividually or cumulatively). Regular assessmants of emerging risks (at least annually) must be conducted to ensura
that all relevant nsks are incleded in the SDM risk profile. To this end, the SDM CRO must ensure thal plobal studies of emerging risks ate analysed and the
potential impact on SDM's goats reviewed with the business risk managers, 1o determine whether new risks shotld ba incuded in the SDM risk inventory.

7.3.  Risk Analysis

This quantilative step includes an analysts and assessmen of:

* The total inherent financial impact should the risk materialises: This assessmenl is done on (he basis that all existing conirols and mitigation aclions will
fail. The time horizon of the quantification of all risks is ane year i fulure {forward-looking}

+ The residual linancial inpact # the nsk materialises within the next year: This is done on a residual basis, assassing the tesidual likelhood and residual
impact, i.e. assuming that Ihe exsting conlrols and additional mitigating actions will be effeclive. Pre-determined rating scales, mirst be applied but aclual
monetery values within he identiied mpact range are allowed lo be specified where deemed mote appropriate

+ MNis nol always easy to delermine the likely impact (e.g. for reputalional risks), but Impact malrixes can be used, where diierent levels of consaquence
tisks are aligned with the difterenl impac! scales {e.g. lor reputational risk, different levels of exposure of media coverage can be used to ingicate the
likely impact). i 5 mportanl fo quantify the residual impact as closely as possible. since the aggregaled residual impacts will be used in the
quanlification of the nsk-based capital requrements of Tha business.

* The CURA solulion wil calculale lhe residual combined raling: This can be expressed as a monetary amount {impact x probability) and will be used to
determine exposure fo significant risks (in order o optmise resources).
+ Determine the Risk Conlrol Effecliveness: This assessment indicates the fevel of effectiveness of existing risk management activilies.

+ Identily related controls: In order o assist Infernal Audi in Iher Risk-based audil approach, the significanl controls impaciing the risk {mitigation) should
be identified and linked to Ihe fisk. A standard classilicalion of controls should be delined and deployed on CURA.

The assessed level of residual risk. compared with the risk appatile and tolerance leve!s of SDM, wil defermine the pricritised list of key risks lor further
delailed aclion and monitoring Risks currently rated as Low or Medium must still be reviewed regularly to ensure lhat the levels of threal remain acceptable.
Parlicular attention must be given to nsk with a low likelihood, but extremely high impacl, lo ensure that conlrols managing the likelihood are still effective

74 Risk Treatment
The following managemenl slralegies can be followed once a risk has been quantified:
» Treatmant of the risk (reducing the likelihood or impact, should it materialiss).
+ Transler of he risk {e 9. reinsurance of oulsourcing lo specialist risk managers).
+ Termination of the risk (fermination of aclwilies, products or services at the source of Ihe risk).
+ Tolerance of the risk {risk wilh iow probabilty of malerialising or where no additional mitigation actions can be ideniified for risks wilhin the SOM Risk
Appelile}

The relevanl response slralegy and supporting actions must be documented and monilored confinuously. For each action. the responsible person(s), the
due dzte and any progress should akso ba recorded

7.5 Ongoing monitoring and reporting

761 Monioring

SOM shoyld review and report to lhe SDM Audi, Acluarial and Risk Commitlee, SDM Board and lo the Santam Group on ifs risk managemenl framework
and processes at least annually The aim of such reviews should be o provide assurance fo Ihe Audit, Actuarial and Risk Committee and fo mprove the
process over ime.

Residual nsk profiles must be reviewed reqularty o determine the effecliveness and progress wilh miligation aclions.

The currenl status of key risk indicators. risk toleranes lewls and all major incidents musl akso be quantdied and monitored regutarly (at leasl quarterly)
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7.5 Ongoing monitoring and reporting (continued}

762  KeyRisk indicatars (KRY)

Key risk indicalors for all categories of risks must be idenlified and measured regularly. Ideally targel levels must ba specified {aligned with the SOM Risk
Appelile) and progress must be measured againg! these targels

753  Reporting
Detailed guidelines on the reporting process will be subject o change as the risk management practices of the Saniam Group and SOM evolve

Basic prolocols will include.
+ Quarterly roporting of significant risks and progress with action plans via the Exco, to the SOM CRO., o ensure reporting to the SOM Audil, Actuarial and
Risk Committes Morithly reporfing of significant new risks and incidents or progress on exisling risk evenls lo SDM CRO, for consolidaled reporting fo
the SDM Exco or Management as required: and

* Immedialo escalalion of risks fo appropriate fevels of oversight as per the SDM Escalalion malrix

The fallowing diagram explains Ihe inleraction among the different components of he overall risk management process:

S ———
< PAST [(erESENT | FUTORE — >
pr—
* Ruview & Monior * Rovinw, Moitor, Assasa * Asawes
* Risk lncideniy " Risk Appelite and KRI's * Risk raungs

* Emmging risks

+ Looking back
> Review significan! incidents and manilor management actions that were implementad to prevent the incident from recurring.
> Review progress with risk miligation aclions defined for significant risks.

+ Current Stalus:
> Use incidents as input in reviewing current risk profila of businass.
> Review current lavels of risk toleranca limits and the impact on owr Risk Appeite.
> Review curent lavels of KRI's
> Review curreni environment (internal and external).
*  Looking forward:
> Usa current slalus raview to review developing stalus of risk profile.
> Assessralings of exisling risks.
> ldenlity and analyse emerging or now risks.

8. Incident treatment

The incident managemant process follows a similar iterative process as for Risk management An mporianl component of mexdent management is to ensure
a link between the particular incidenl to the underlying risk and a relevant risk calegory in order 1o enhance the quantification of risks within these categories.
The CURA software provides lor the recording and mondoring of incidenls.

The risk manager musl lake cognisance of all material losses suffered in the business, as well as near-misses {where actual losses wera either avoided by
chance or prevented through the efiecliveness of conlrols. Incidents and loss frends musl be analysed lo ensure compleleness of risk prolfiles and
associated Key Risk Indicator's.

9, Risk management roles and responsibillties
Specialis! risk management roles exis! within SDM. A decentralised risk management philosophy s followed whereby each role has a specific mandale to

manage particular risks or to provide asswance on the management of such risk.

Specitic mefrics and management actions must be reported to the SDM CRO, to ensure that an overall portfolio view of nsk 1s maintained for SOM.

Risk Management forms parl of the Combined Assurance Model {lramewerk) thal provides assurance on oversight to the Audil, Acluarial and Risk
Commilea and Board
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10. Risk types
The major risk categories lor SOM are.

1. Operational Risk Operational nsk 1s defined as Ihe sk of loss resulling Irom nadequale of faled internal procasses, people and

General Risks

syslems; or from external evenls. W includes

Information and technology risk: Risk of losses stemming {rom IT syslems, infraslruciure or processes.
Examples include deliciency of integration, inadequacies in systems or networks, loss of dala or availability,
lack of credible data, obsolescence of infrastructure or applications

Business continuity risk: Risk of business disruption. system failures and recoverabillly, damage o
physical assels or securily breaches of systems and faciliies

Legal risk: Risk lhat SDM operations are disrupted or adversely affected by legal proceedings againsl the
organisation, adverse judgmenis from courls, coniracts thal tum out lo be unenforceabls or confractual|
obligations which hava nol been provided for

Policyholders’ reasonahle expectation (PRE) rsk: clieni facing documentalion / mis-seliing

Compilance risk: Risk of not complying wilh laws, regulations, rules, related selfvegulatory organisation
slandards and codes of conduct, invesiment management mandates, as well as the faiure 1o uphold the
Sanlam Qroup's core values and code of ethical conduct Market conducl involves the behaviour of an
organisation and of those thal act on ils behalf towards vanous stakeholders {including potenlial and current
cuslomers; regulators or supervisors, investors. and other market parlicipants). Market conduct comprises
matkel discpiing {including transparency and corporate governance) and consumer profeclion (including
lreating customers fairly)

Business continultyiGoing concern risk: Risk of business disruption, system failures and recovery.
damage to physical assets or securily breaches of our systems / facilities.

Fraud dsk: Any form of unlawful conduct, from inlernal sources {inilialed by own employees o
intermediaries) or all external sources

Taxatlon dsk: The risk of financial loss owing lo changes in tax legistation that result in 1he actual tax on
shareholders’ fund earnings being higher than expecled, with cormespoending reduction in return on Group
Equity Valug {GEV), or the aclual policyholder 1ax being higher than that assumed in the determination of
premium rates and guaranteed rates policy benefils.

HR risks; Risks include employmenl prachioss and workplace safely, excessive stalf turnover, remuneration)
structure risks andfor inadequate access to appropriate skills and capacily to operate elfectively

Regulatory risk: Ruisk of regulatory changes impacting business {FAIS, FICA, Ombud, TCF, RE exams,
political rsk)

Process management risk: Risk of financial losses due fo ineflicient administrative processes, eg data|
caplure errors, incomplele documentalion, mis-seliing or poor advice.

Project risk: Risk in major projecls, whelher IT or non-IT, inability to deliver project efficiently {lime, budgel,
scope, business handover and control).

Financial statement risk: Risk of financial musstaternent, reguatory or reputational risk of non-confermance
with accounting and requialory standards or restatement of financial statements.

Outsourcing provider risk: The risk arising from the inabilily or unwillingness of an oulsourcing servica
provider to dischargs its contraclual cbligations.

2. Reputational Risk Risk that adverse public perceplions {irespectiva whelher accurateivalid or rol} regarding ihe organisalion’s
business praclices, business associalions and markel conduct will cause loss of slakehokder confidence in the
|integrity of the organ:salion, ultimalely resulling In financial losses. Stakeholders include current and potential
clients, business associates, investors, suppliers and supervisors.

.

.

.

3. Strategic Risk Risks that mpact the ability to effeclively implement business plans and achieve sirategic goals, Including the risk oll
|inappropriate sirategies chosen and the risk of incorrect assessments of stralegies. Also includes risks mpacting the)
going-concetn of the business. It includes:

Strategic risk (risk of nefficient strategy, or ineffictent impltementation of strategies)
Key risk that may impact Ihe achievement of goals

Rrsks of mergers. acquisilions, joinl ventures

Risks from compelilors’ siralegies

BEE / FSC risks
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10. Risk types (continued)

4. Marhet Risk The nisk 1hal the economic posilion of the business is negatively affected by adverse changes in market prices

andfor inferesl rales. Also consider the impact of inflation on assets and habililies. Types of risks includes:

+ Equity rfsk: The risk resufling from the sensitivily of the values of assets. labiliies andfor financial]
instruments lo changes in the lave! or in the volatility of market prices of equities.

+  Interest rate rish: The risk of foss or adverse change in 1he value of assets and liabililies due lo changes in
the lave! or valatility of interest rates. This includes fluciuations in unmatched of matched pesitions.

+  Currency risk; The risk of loss or adverse change in the value of assels andior liabifilies due to changes in
{he level or volatility of currency exchanga rales.

+ Proparty Hsk: The risk thal the properties investment value will flucluale as a result of changes in the|
environment (ie the risk of loss or adverse change in the value of assels and liabiliies due 1o unanticipated
changes in the level and volatiity of market prices of properly). e.g as a resull of changes in the macro-
economic environment

+  Asset llahility mismatching risk: The tisk of 2 changa in value as a result of a dewialion belween assel and
liability cash-lows, prices or camying amounts. Thess include Asset/Liability modelling (ALM) for guarantesd
or walh-profit porifolios. 1l includes matching by term, cumency, amount, and lype of hability.

+  Asset concentration risk: The risk of losses due to inadequalely diversilied portlolios. This is usually
{reated as a cause for general market risk.

+  Crecht spread risk: The sensilvity of Ihe values of assets. liabiliies and financial insiruments {0 changes |nJ
the level or volalilty of credi spreads over the risk-free interest rate lerm structure.

I5. Credit Risk The nsk that @ ithrd parly delaults, in either payment or delivery of services. Parbies include reinsurers,

counterparties for investments, infermedianias, JV pariners, suppliers of issuers of securily and banks. Types of|

risks include:

+  Default risk: Credit risk arising lrom the inability or unwilingness of a credil counterparly to discharga ils]
conlractual obligalions.

+  Downgrade or migration risk: Risk thal changes in the possible future default by an obligator will adversely
impact curtent portfolio value

+  Reinsurance counterparty rsk: Concenlration risk in lerms of exposure to a mited range of reinsurers of
lypes of products

+  Sattlement risk: Resk arising from lag between value and settlemenl dates of security Iransactions.
|6. Liquidity Risk This 15 the risk resulting from the enterprise’s failure lo pay its debls and obligations (including clams and other
liabilities) when it becomes due; as a resull of

+ lisinahility to convert assels into cash

+  lts failure to procure enough funds; or

+  funds can only be procured al such high rates, that the income and capital posilion of or market confidence in
SOM can be affected,

+  of Invesiment slralegy may inchide inadequate liquid assets to meet cultiows from policyholder portlolios
The risk can slem from external sources (competition, volatile markels, regulatory interveniion, etc) or internal|
|sources (operating systems, invesimenl dectsions)
Secondary lypes include’

«  Market liquidity rlsk (also known as frading liquidity risk or assel hiquidity risk). risk stemming from the lack oil
marketabiiity of a financial instrumenl that cannot be bought or sold quickly enough to prevent or minimize a
loss {or make the requred profit)

+  Funding Nquidity risk is the nsk relating lo the difficully or inabilly 1o access or raise lunds lo meel
commitments associaled wilh financial instruments or pelicy contracts. I

Financial and business-specific risks
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10. Risk types (continued)
7. Insurance Risk The uncertainly underlying Ihe frequency, severdy and timing of fulure claims or expenses i our long-term
insurance book. |! includes:
+  Underwriting rigk: Risk producls: sisk thal actual experience relating to meraldy, morbidily, disabilily
deviates iram expected experience in pricing and valuation of liabillies.
¢+ Underwriting risk: Annuily products: risk that aclial mortalily and longevity experience differs from expected
and valualion assumplions.

+  Persistency risk. Risk of financial loss due {o unlavourable experience on expecied lapses, iransfers-out
surranders, and paid-up fransactions. |t covars (he risk of loss or adverse change in insurance liabilibes due
to unanticipated change in the rate of policy lapses, terminattons, renewals and surrenders.

+  Risk of Inefficient capital alocation: Parameter risk, modal risk, insufficient data, etc.

+  New product risk: Impaci of new products and options on risk profile of SDM, including future repulalional
risk.

+ Expense risk: Risk ol adverse expense experience compared 1o the pricing and valuation basis. it covers

the risk of loss or negalive change in insurance liabililies due to unfavourable variation in the axpenses
incurred in servicing inswance and reinsurance conlracls.

Financial and business-specific risks

+ Concentration risk: The risk of linancial loss due to having wrilten large proportions of business with
policyholders of the same/similar risk profile {including catastrophe risk}.

1. Risk mitigation
11.1.  Operational risk

The Company mitigates this risk through its culture and values, a comprehensive sysiem of internal controls, internal audi, forensic and compliance funclions
and olher measures such as back-up facilities. contingency planning and insurance, The inilialion of ransaclions and their adminisiration is conducted on the
basis of ths segregation of dubes. designed to ensure the comeciness, compleleness and validity of all ransactions.

The management of risks associated with human resources is not addressed in this report.

The lollowang funclionaries assisl in miligating operational risk;
+ Internal audt

A Sanlam Group Board-approved internal audi charler governs internal audt activity within the Sanlam Group Regular risk-focused reviews of internal
control and risk management syslems are carried out. The authority, resources, scope of work and effecliveness of the funclions ara reviewed regularly

* Exesnal audit
The Company's external audilors are Emnst & Young Inc. The reporl of he independent audtors for the year under review is contained on pages 6 to B
of the arnual financial stalements.

The exlernal audtors provide an independent assessment of certam systems of internal financial control which they may rely on to express an
independenl opinion on the annual financial statements. Non-audit services rendered by the external audilors are striclly governed by a Company policy
in this regard. The Company applies a policy of compulsory rotation of audit pariners after every 5 years as defined in section 92 of ihe Companies Act
No 71 of 2008.

111 1. Information and lechnology risk

IT risks are managed across the Sanlam Group in an integraled manner following Ihe Enterprise Risk Management framework. Santam Group IT is the
custodian of the Sanlam Group's IT Policy framework and ensures explicit locus on and integration wih the Sanfam Group's IT Governance framework,
which includes the governance of information securily

The Company's Chiel Informalion Officer facilitates the process of identilying emerging 1T risks as well as unpacking significani IT risks wilh company-wida
slrategic or operational impact. The Company’s Audit. Actuarial and Risk Commiliee provides guidance {o Ihe Chiel Information Officer regarding his duties,
such as the establiskment of policy

A quarterly IT Governance report, summarising the company-wade position s delivered fo the Company's Audil, Actuarial and Risk Commiltes.
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. Risk mitigation (continued)
1112 Going concernbusiness continuily risk

The Board regularly considers and records the facts and assumplions on which it relies o conclude that the Company will confinue as a going concern
Reflecting on the year under review, the dreclors considered a number of facis and circumslances and are of the opinion {hat adequate resources axisl to
continue business and that the Company will remain a going concern in the foraseeable fulure The Board's statement to this effedt is also conlained in the
stalement on the responsibrlity of directors in the annualfinancial statements.

1113 feqalnisk

During Ihe development slage of any new product and lor materia! fransactions entered inlo by the Company, 1he legal resources of the Company monitor
the dratling of the conlract documents to ensure thal rights and obligations of all parlies are clearly sel out. The Company seeks to minimise uncerlainlies
lhrough conlfinuous consullation with internal and external legal advisers, lo undersland the nature of risks and to ensure that ransactions are approprialety
struciured and documented

1114 Compliance rigk

Laws and reguialions

The Company considers compliance with applicable laws, industry regulations and codes an infegra! part of doing business. The Compliance Cliice,
faciiates the management of complance through the analysis of slalutory and regulatory requiremnents, and monitors the implementation and execution
thereof

1115 Faudnsk

The Company recognises that financial crime and unfawful conduct are in conflic with the principles of efhical befiaviour, as set out in he Company's code of
slhics, and undermines {he organisational infegrily of the Company The financial crime combating policy for the company is designed lo counter the threat of
financial crime and unfawful conduct. A zero-tolerance approach is applied in combaling financial crime and all oifenders are proseculed. The forensic
services function level oversees the prevention, datection and investigation of incidants of untawiul conduct that are of such a nature that Ihey may have an
impact on the Company. Forensic services is also responsle for the formulation of Company standards in respect of ihe combating of unfawful conducl and
{he mplementalion of measures fo monitor compliance with these standards.

1116 Taxalionrisk

The risk 15 addressed through clear conlracting 1o ensurs 1hat policy conlracts enfille policyholders to aftertax relurns, where applicabls The Sanlam
Group’s internal lax resources monior the impact of changes in ax legislation. paricipate in discussions with the tax legistator to comment on changes n
legistation and are invoived in the development ol new products. External lax advics is cblained as required. Taxation risk is not a signilicanl risk for the
Company.

11.1.7  Requlatory risk

Regutatory risk 1s miligaled by ensuring that Ihe Company has dedicated personnal that are involved in and therelore informed of relevant developments in
legistation. The Company lakes & proactive approach in inveshgaling and lormutating views on all appiicable issues facing the financial services indusiry
The risk is also managed as far as possible lhrough clear confracling. The Company monilors and influences events to The extent possible by participation m
discussions wilh legistators, dreclly and through induslry organisations

1118 Process sk

The risk of failed or Inadequale infernal procasses is addressed thiough a combinalion of the foliowing
* Arisk-based approach is lollowed in the design of operational processss and internal controls
+ Operational processes are properly documented:,
* Stalf training and the employmen of a performance-basad remuneration philosophy, and
+ Internal audit review of key opesational processes.

1119, Projectrisk

A lormalised, rsk-based approach is lollowed for (he management of major projects to ensure that projects are effectively implemented and the project
hurdle rale is achiaved. Key delverables, progress and risks are moniored on a conlinuous basis throughout the project life cycle. Infernal specialists and
external consullants are used as required to provide specialist knowledge and expenence
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1. Risk mitigation (continued)

11.1.10. Outsourcing provider risk

A Sanlam Group oulsourcing policy is in place and aims lo provida clear direction and policy regarding the stralegic management (e.g assessment of
outsourcing options, eslablishment of agreemenls, {he on-going management of and reporting on outsourcing) of all oulsourcing arrangements, whether
external or infernal within the Sanlam Group

112, Reputational risk

Repulation risk is the risk that the Company is prevented from applying mitigating risk managemenl policies due to the polential repulation mpact on the
Company. Actions wilh a potantial reputation impadl are escalated lo 1he appropriate level of senicr management. Tha Audit, Acluarial and Risk Committee
and Board of Directors are involved as required. Events wilh an mduslry-wide repulalion impact are addressed through industry representative groups.

11.3.  Strategic risk

Strategic risk 5 the nisk thal the Company's shrategy is inappropriate or that the Company is unable to implemenl its sralegy. The Company's strategy is
addressed on a regular basis at various forums willin the Company  Any significant evenls that potentially threalen the achievement of 1he Company's
strategy are escalated and addressed al the sarliest opportunity

114, Marketrisk

The Company 15 exposed fo various financial risks in conneclion wilh ils current operaling achivilies, such as foreign currency nisk, inlerest rate risk, aredt
tisk, market risk and hquidily risk. These risks conlribute to the key linancial risk thal the proceeds from Ihe Company's financal assets are insufficend to fund
ihe obiigalions arising from insurance and invesiment policy conlracls

Derivalive financial instruments are used only 1o econcmically hedge capital assels within a portichio. The purchase of call oplions. futures or writing of put
oplions is only allowed if fully covered by the porifolio cash or money markel instruments for he full durabion of the instruments. The sale of these detivatives
15 only allowed if the assels underlying the instrumenis are held for the fulf duration of the instrument. Speculaling in derivative inslruments is not permitted.

The Company manages hese risks Ihrough 1he activities of he Audit, Actuarial and Risk Commiltes, the Estate Commitles, the Assel Liabifly Committee
and the SPF Investment Committee (The Company does not have its own Invesiment Commitles. This Committes has been consclidated into the SPF
Investment Committee} Each commitlee meels at least four times per annum lo discuss financial nisk 1ssues. Managemenl s responsible for mplementing
recormmendabons (hal have been agreed upon and reporting Ihese recemmendalions back to the relevant commitiee

The Audd, Acluarial and Risk Commiltes i1s a commitiee of the Board of Sanlam Developing Markets Limited and 15 responsible for the mplemenlalion and
monitoring of overall risk management, internal financia! controts and financial and acluarial reporting wilhin the Company  The main respensibilities of this
commitiee are:

+ Selting and overseeing the averall standard lor financial and acluarial reporting, risk management and inferna! controls wilhin the Company:

+ Monitoring the effectiveness ol business risk managemenl processes in lhe Company;

+ Raviewing and assessing the quality of the work done by professionals responsible lor financial and actuaral reporing, risk management and internal
control,

+ Engaging in discussions with external and internal audilors on the quably and acceplability of the control environment and reporting structures

The SPF Investmenl Commiltes is @ managemenl committee and ils main respensibiliies are
+  Provide cversight of the relevant underlying investment portiolios where pelicyhalders bear the full investment risk.
+ Qversee lhe SPF businesses’ approach fo mvesimanis and their respective offerings relating to linked invesimenl funds withoul guarantees; and
+ Ensure that SPF adheres to TCF oulcomes 2 and § for cienls invested in these funds

The Estate Commiliee and the Assel Liability Committee are Sanlam Group commiliees The Estale Commitles reviews and oversees the management of
Ihe Company's estate portiolios, which are defined as all portfolios whera the shareholder camies all the investmeni nsk. The Asset Liabilty Committee
provides for the managemenl of the Smoothed Bonus business, Markel-related business (wilh underlying investmenl guarantees) and other producis with
investment guarantees of the Company This entails appropriate assel-liabilily managemenl to ensure a balanced proteclion of shargholder and policyholder
interests and dalivety of relevanl Trealing Customer Farly oulcomes.
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11. Risk mitigation (continted)
114, Market risk {confinued)

Separate asset funds are maintained for the dilferent products and categaries of long-lenm policy liabidities. The Company does conduct securilies lending
actvities in respecl of its isted equities and bonds,

1141 Marke! ngk - inferast and equilies

The Company's business operations are exposed {o market risk. Market risk arises from the unceriain movement in fai value or nel assel value of lhe
investments that stems principally from polential changes in senliment towards the investment, the variability of luture earnings 1hat is reflecled in the curreni
perceived value of the investmenl and the fluctuations in interest rales and loreign currency exchange rates Policyholders' and shareholders' investmenls in
equilies are valued at lar value and are Iherefore susceplible to market lluctualions.

The acqustion of policyholders™ assets is based on the design of the product and markeling descriptions. Wilhin lhese parameters, invesiments are
managed with the aim of maximsing policyholder returns while kmiling risk 1o acceptable levels within the framework of statutory requirements. The focus of
risk measurement and managemanl is to enswe that the potential risks inberent in an invesiment are reasonable for The future potential reward, exposure to
invastment risk is lmited to acceplable levels, premium rales are adequate o compensale for investment risk and an adequate reserving policy is applied for
long-term policy liabilities

Tha dwerse product range requires a variety ol approaches to the management of risk, these range from portiolio managemeni practices and lechniques
such as oplimisation of expected risks and rewards based on investment objectives, fo asset-liability malching in support of stalement of financial pestion
obhgalions.

The SPF Investment Commiltes meets quarterly to sel investment policy guidelines and to govern compliance to risk policies and limits. Comprahensive
measuras and kmits are in place lo control the exposure fo markel risk of the investments of the Company. The am is o ensure thal appropriate assels are
held where the liabilties are dependant upon the performance of specilic portiolios of assets and that a sulable match of assels exisls for all non-linked
ligilities. Limits are applied in respect of the exposure to assel dasses and individual counters. Where applicable, advice is sought Irom Ihe asset manager
on suifable amendments {o the mandates, Senicr management experience and judgment is applied to moniloring and controlling market risk.

Shareholders are exposed o inferesl rate risk in resped of interest bearing invesiments and cash, deposils and smilar securities that have varying interesl
rates. Thay also have a polential exposwre fo interest rate risks on the guaranteed producls, should the aclual return be lower than the guaranteed amound

114.2 Torms and conditions of policy contracts

Insurance contracts

The Company derives the bulk of its operating prafit from individual policies thal provide death benelits for the policyholder and their mmediate and extended
family members. Immediate fami'y members may includa: the spouse; children younger than 21 and parents. Extended farmily members may include: aunis;
uncles; cousins; mecas; nephews; chikiren older Than 21 and grandparents of the policyholder. The death sum assured is designed 1o mest the cos! of
funeral expenses. Funeral policies sold subsequent lo August 2001 only provide death and waiver of premium benefits bul older policies atso include
surtender benelits.

Investment conlracls
Single premium guaranteed business comprises around 37 7% of the Company's investmen! policy liabilties. Benelils under these policiss include a
guaranteed malurity value and, in soma cases, a level annuity payable during the policy lerm
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1". Risk mitigation {continued)
114.  Matket rish {continued)

The Company also wiles indvidua! policies that prowde for relirement funding and ather savings  Both Ihe retrement savings product and recenl savings
product include a relurn-ol-premium guarantee on maturity  This guarantes = also included on death for the relrement savings producl and the 2010 and
later versions of the savings products

Group policies providg lump sum dealh and disabyity benefits to groups of mdividuas such as employees of a Company, members of funeral patiour
schemes and members of church crganisations. Group policies are generally sold with annually renewable premium and policy terms.

1143 Linked liabilities

The Company is nof exposed lo market risk in respect of linked Sabiities wilhoul guarantead minimum benefits, as (he benefits under the contracls are linked
1o the fair valus of the supporting assets Market risk is assumed by the policyholder. However, Lhe existence of fund-based fees and charges means that
1he Company is exposed to indrecl market nisk.

The Company 1s exposed lo soma market nisk where the policy confract provides for guaranieed minimum benelits at death or maturity.  The risk is managed
by matching the liability with appropriale assets in terms of the Company's investment policies and by adjusting the level of guarantees for new policies
based on changss in the expected luture investmenl retum of the different asset classes. The Company's long-lerm palicy lizbilities include a specific
provision for {he addhional benelits potenliatiy payable i respect of these poficies. The cuiment provision is calculated according 1o the requiremants of APN
110 rssued by the Acluanial Society of South Afnca, and = sulficient to cover the expected addibonal benefits. For this purpose a large number of simulalions
werg performed using the standard Barrin & Hibbert economic scenano generator calibraled te South African market condtions at 31 December 2018

1144 Bonus stabilisation ressrves

If the fair value of the assels m the smoolh bonus portlolio is grealer than the policyholders’ nel premiums invasted plus declared bonuses, a posilive bonus
stabilisation reserve 15 created which will be used 1o enhance fulure bonuses. Conversely, a negalive bonus slabilisation reserve would be created it
bonuses declated exceed refurn sarned. A negative bonus stabilisation reserve will be fimited to the amount thal the Head of Acluarial Conlrol Function
axpects will be recovered through the declaration of lower bonuses duning the ensung three years. if mvesiment returns are in fine with long-term
assumplions. Bonus slabilisalion reserves are included in long-term policy kabdlies. The bonus stabilisalion reserve is cumently positive for both
endowmenis and refremenl annuities.

The declarabon of bonuses is managed in lerms of the Principkes and Practices of Financiz) Management adopted by the Sanlam Developing Markels
Limited Board during 2008.

The Company is expased o market risk {o the extent that declared bonusas have vested. The risk is managed by malching the liabilties with appropriate
supporting investmenis and making part of Ihe bonus declaralion non-vesting.

11,45  Non.parficipaling annuilies and quarantee plans

Interest rate risk is the principal financial risk in respect of non-parlicipating annuilies, given the long-term profile of these liabilitbes. Liabilities are malcheq
with assels, mostly inlerest-bearing, fo ensure that cash flows and the duration of assels and iabilties are closely matched. The Company prowdes the assel
manager wilh monthly updales of the liabilty prolile so 1hal the assels held in the portfalio may be aligned. The assel manager lests the impaci of changes in
interest rates and lormally repors the results to managernent on a quarterly basis. This is done by lesling the sensilivity of the assats and labililies to various
scenarios for changes in the interast rales.

Guaranfee plans provide lor guaranteed maturity amounts. Market risk is managed by matching the liabilities with assets that have similar return and maturty
profiles as ihe liabilties

Management is comfortable with the Company's exposure.
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1. Risk mitigation {continued)
114.  Market risk (coniinued)
1146 Currency sisk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair vatue andfor cash llow of a inangial instrument will fluciuate owing 1o changes in foreign exchangs rates. The business's
exposure (o cuency 7isk 1s mainly in resped! of foreign invesiments made on behall of policyholders and shareholders for the purpose of seeking desirabla
internalional diversification of invesiments.

In addition, the Company has invesled in a number of foreign subsidiaries (refer o nole 29 for details). This inlroduces a cutrency risk in resped of the value
ol lhe investment and Ihe value of profils arising in the subsidiaries

1147 Policvholders' fund

Policyhalder portfolios with exposure to {oregn currencies are predominantly in respect of linked kabililies where the holder of the contract is exposed lo the
currency risk.

1148 Shamholders'funds - currency risk
The table below shows the sharehoiders’ fund assels denominaled in lorexgn currencies that are includad in the statemen of financial posifion

United States Malawian Other
Dollar Kwacha Nigerian Naira currencies Total

Foreign currency exposure R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000
2018
Investmenl in subsidianes and associated companies - 341,455 - - 341,455
Forgign curency exposure . 41,455 - . 341,455
Exchange rales

Closing rale 00185

Average rate 0m90
7
Investmenl in subsidianes and associated companies . 250,085 195,155 - 445240
Foreign currency exposure - 250,085 195,155 - 445240
Exchanga rales

Closing rale 1238 0073 00347

Average rate 1330 00185 00403

Effect as a result of an
Fairvalue of  Increaseldecrease in falr value
Interest +% 1%

Foreign currency risk sensitivity - effect on shareholder's fund assets R'000 R000 R'éo0
018

Malawian Kwacha 341,455 3415 (3,415}
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1. Risk mitigation (continued)
114 Market tisk (continued)

Effect as a result of an
Fair value of  Increaseldecrease in fair value
interest H% 1%
Foreign cusrency risk sensitivity - effect on shareholder's fund assets R'000 R000 R'000
2017
Matawian Kwacha 250085 2501 {2,501}
Migerian Nara 165,155 1,952 {1,952}
11.5.  Credit isk

Credit risk anses from the inability or unwilingress of a counter pary lo a financial instrument lo discharge ils conlraclual obligations. The Company
determines counter-parly credit qualty by reference to ratings from independent ralings agencies or, where such ralings are not available, by internal
analysis. The Company seeks to avoid unacceptable cancentration of cred risk 1o groups of counter-pariies, to business seclors, product types, efc.

The Company's financial instruments do not represenl a concenlration of credit risk becausa The business deals wilh a variely of reinsurers and its premiums
recenvable and loans are spread among a number of major industries, customers and geographic areas. Amounts receivable in emms of long-teym insurance
business ate secured by the underlying value of Ihe unpaid policy benelits in lerms of the polcy contract. Premwms oulslanding for more than 45 days are
fully provided for. An appropniate level of provisioning = mainlained. Exposure to oulside financal instilulions congerning deposits and similar transaclions is
monitored apamsl approved limils. There are no matenial financial assets that are past due bul not impaired.

Broker loans and advances are provided where the Company has adequate relention balance held for the broker and an assessment of the broker's financial
postion is performed belore granling Ihe loan or advance. In addition lo managing the credit nsk, it should be noted That the Company’s current exposure to
broker debl is immaleral because precaulionary provisions have been mada agains! the bulk of the debt

Tha Company, reviews reinsurance companies thal it conducls business wilh, 1o ensure that the reinsurer is a company with high international or simitar
credi ralings

Maximum exposure lo credif risk
The lifg insurance businesses’ maximum exposure to credt risk is equivalenl lo the amounls recognised in the statement of financial posilion. as there are no
financial guarantees provided Lo parlies outside the Company, nor are there any loan commilments prowided thal are irevocable over the life of the facility or
ravocable only in adverse circumstances

The credil quality of each class of financial assel that is neither past due nor impared, has been assessed as acceptable wilhin Ihe parameters ussd fo
measure and monilor credit risk, as described above. There were no material financial assels that would have been past due or impaired had the lerms not
been renegotiated.
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1. Risk mitigation {continued)

116, Liquidity risk

Liquadily resk is Ihe risk thal lhe business will encounler difficully in raising funds to meet commitments associated wilh firancial instruments. Liquidity risk
anses when lhere is a mismatch between the maturdies of liabililies and assels.

All policyholder funds are invesled in appropriate assels lo meet the reasonable benefit expeclations of policyholders, which inctude ihe expeclation that
funds will be avadable to pay out benefits as required by he policy conlracl.

The value for policy liabilities and the assels backing Ihem are as per the carrying amount in the statement of 1he financial position. Refer o Ihe Policyholder
assets backing policyholder liabilities nole on page 43.

Exposure to
JLife insurance husinesses exposed to risk via: Lquidity risk
Policyhalder salutions *
Linked and market-elated * v
Smoolhed-bonus business
Stable bonus * v
Reversionary bonus * v
Participaling annuilies * v
Won-particpaling annuities 2 v
Other non-participating kabililies
Guarantea plans *
Other 2 v

! These policyholder soltdions do not expose the Company lo significant liquiddy risks. Expocted cash flows are taken info account in detormining the investment gudelnes and assel spread
of tho partfolios. Limits aro also placed on tho axposure lo iliquid invosimenls.

# Tho liabildics a0 matched as far as postible with astels, masty intotost-bearing, to ensuro that tho duralion of asscls and kabiities are closely dligned.

* Liguidily risk i ped by matehing the Eabiities with asscts that have similar maturity profiles as the Habiktios.

* Policyholder portfolios supportng linked and market-refated businass, participating ties and ether non-participating kfe business aro invested in appropriale assets, taking into account
expotiod cash outhows.

° The table below summarisos tho overal maluny proflo of the policyholder busingss.

Overall maturity profile of the Oto 1 year 1 to 5 years >§years Open ended Total
policyholder business R'000 R'00D R'000 RN R'00D
2048
Insurance confracls 100,879 576,326 2200726 732582 3610513
Investmant confracls 243430 10,643,686 114,728 1,969 486 15,162,291
Total policy liabiities ! 2535270 11,220012 2315454 2,702,068 18,772,804
Equilies and smilar securities . . . 796,284 796,284
Government interest bearing mvestments 47213 50.087 194,674 - 291,974
Corporale interest bearing investmentls §4.775 728,501 35,043 - 778,319
Structured transaclions . 8,064 . . 8,064
Investment funds - - 2,138,749 2138749
Cash deposils and similar securilies 276364 1,145,996 . - 1,422 360
SDOM Investment Trust Assets 1.039.926 1.687.910 - 10,897,549 13,625,385
Long-lerm remsurance assels - 671 3207 50 3928
Nat working capifal {292.259) . . - {292,259)
Total policyholder assets 1.586,019 3121229 232924 13,832632 18,772,804

"The amousts ate contractually icpayable on lhe occwrenco of lho underlying gk event and therefore they could bo dassified as repayablo on demand. Howovet, in erder lo provido
additional information, the lablo has beon prepared based on tha expocted timing of the outflows
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1. Risk mitigation (continued)
1.6 Liquidity risk {continued)

Overall maturity profile of the 0o 1 year 1to Syears »Syears Open ended Total
policyholder business {continued) R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000
2017
Inswrance conlracts 107,099 531027 2237696 616,117 3,491,939
Investmenl contracts 3.242,707 10,917,365 133416 1,488,581 15,782,069
Total policy labilites * 3,349,806 11,448 392 2371312 2,104,698 19,274,008
Equities and simifar securities - - . 856,548 856,548
Governmant inleresl bearing invesiments 43,203 81,056 194,401 - 318,660
Corporate inlerest beaning ivesiments 479,149 842,176 8,053 - 1,329378
Struciured iransactions 947 62.758 - . 63,709
Investiment funds - - - 947,038 947 038
Cash deposils and similar securities 322,632 216,483 - - 539115
SOM Investmend Trusl Assels 735121 482,693 - 14,326,091 15,543,905
Long-erm reinsurance assets . 1,296 3446 58 4,800
Net working capial {329,141) - - - {329,141)
Total policyholder assets 125191 1,666,462 205,900 16,129,735 19,274,008

" The amounls ate contractually repayable on the occurrence of lhe underlying risk ovenl and therefore they could be classibed a8 repayable on demand, However, in onder o provide
addtional information, tha tabla has been propared based on the vxpectod timing of Ihe outflows

11.7.  Insurance risk

Insirance risk arises from the Company exposure to risk if actual expenence difers lrom that which is assumed The Company is however also exposed to
persistency risk in respect of other policyholder solulions and insurance risk in respect of universal Iife so‘utions.

1171 Persistency risk
Persislency risk relates to the risk of financial loss due to higher than expecled lapse, surrencler and paid-up expenence. The design of insurance products
excludes surrender guarantees lo limi! financial loss at surender

Lapse expenence is monilored at least twice per annum fo ensure poor experience is identilied timeously and corrective action laken as requved. Such
comechive aclion includes inter aba:

+ |dentification and prevenlion of fraudulent new business;
+ Follow ups with agenis and brokers who are selling business with low persistency;
+ Petformance management of stalf who fail fo apply conlrals al new business stage Ihat are designed fo filer oul business with expected low persistency

The actual cotlection of new business premiums i compared to expected premiums on a monthly basis 1o maximise collections and give an early warning of
fulure lapses

The Company's reservng policy i5 based on aclual experience to ensure that adsquale provision is mada lor lapses m 1he valuation of insurance conlract
liabilties

The Company’s valualion melhodology is thal no plicy should be trealed as an assel. Therefore, ihe immediate impact of higher lapses will be relatively
small, atthough the profit expected in fulure years will be reduced.

The Company aims to achieve higher persistency by offering policyholders relevant products at reasonable cost. Many lapses are pravented by cblaining
details of the policyholder's nel income al new business stage and thereby confiming Ihe affordability of the premium fo the policyhoider

Persisiency may also be adversely affected by macro-economic condttions that affect the affordabilily of the premium (e g. employment levels)
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1. Risk mitigation (continued)
11.7.  Insurance risk {continved)

Competilion may encourage palicyholders fo lapse policies and move thew business to other insurance providers. Unstrupulous advisers may akso
encourage policyholders lo lapse and henca replace ther policies

11.7 2 Underwriling risk

Underwrting risk relates mainly to the uncertainty {hat the insured event will occur  The nature of an insurance contracl is that Ihe timing and size of claims
arg uncerlain and therelore unprediclable. The princpal underwriting risk is Ihe nisk thal the aclua’ outcome of mortality, morbidity and medical claims wil
resull in volatile profits from one year tothe next.  Such volatility may resull from large concentrations of risk or from charging inadequale premiums relfative
lo the severity or incidence of the fisk accepled. Inadequate policy wording may lad to protect the msurer from claims thal were nol envisaged when lhe
product was priced.

Insurance events are random and Ihe acual number and amount of underwriting benefits wall vary from the best eslimates established from statistical
techniques and taking cogmisance of past experience. The Company manages these nisks through its underwriling siralegy, reinsurance arrangements and
claims handling processes.

The fallowing policies and praclices are used by Ihe Company as par of its underwnling siralegy to mitigale underwnting risk:
+ Al long-term insurance product addlions and alterations, both within and outside of agreed business definitions, are required to pass through the
approvals lramework that forms part of the governance process. The Head of Actuanial Control Funclion approves the financial soundness of new and
revised products.

+ The Company's underwtiling stralegy aims to ensure lhat the underwriting risks are well diversified in lerms of type {medical, occupalional, financial) and
amount of risk covered. Whilsl this is difficult to measure al underwriting stage, the success or failure of the sirategy may be measured by 1he historical
stability of prolits emerging from the book of business

+ Producl pricing and reserving policies also includa specific alowance for the risk of HIV/AIDS

+ The Head of Actuarial Conlral Funclion reports annually on lhe profitabiity of the business taking into consideralion 1he reasonable beneft expectation
ol policyholders. All new rate tables are approved and authorised by the Head of Actuarial Conlrol Funchion prior to being fssued.

+ The right to re-tale premiums is retained as far as possibls, although Ihis 1s Imited by compealitive pressure.

+ Investigations info mortalily and morbidily experience are conducted at least haf yearly fo ensure that correclive action is taken where necessary

The Company's core funeral product offering is characterised by low sums assured which negates the need for underwtiling at policy mception. The policy
condilions enable the Company to repudiate dealh clams ansing from non-accidental causes during an infial watting period after policy inception

The Company's reinsurance arrangements includa risk premium frealies for a high le cover, hospital cover produdt and critical illness products. The decision
on the proportion of risk |o be ceded iollows mainly from the Company’s desire to maintain ils relationship with the reinsurers and is based on the level of
assistanca received from lhe reinsurers. Exceplions to this are reinsurance cessions That are intended to Imit the Company's exposure fo large sums
assured.

Claims risk is represenled by {he fadl that ihe Company may mcur unexpeciedly igh mortality and morbidity losses on any group of policies. Clienl service
slalf are trained to identily and invastigale fraudulent ¢laims limeously. The legitimacy of dlams 1s verfiied by internal. financial and operating controls that are
designed lo contain and monilor claims risk. The forensic investigalion {eam also nvestigates and advises on improvements to infernal control systems. In
addilion, the Company has calastraphe reinsurance 1o aflow for mulliple claims arising from a single event lo kmil the overal claim amount That would be

paid.

1173 Expense rigk
Expense risk is the risk of Joss in fulure pesiods due to aclual expense experience baing worse than assured in he valualion of insurance contact liabilities.
Expense investigations are performed at least quarterly and expenses are monilored and managed through {he Company's budgeting process. Tha risk of
financial loss is further reduced by product design that allows for flexible charges, atihough this is imited by competilive pressura.

Fixed cosls are distrbuted over a variable number of conlracls and so a decrease in business volumes may negalively influence the business. Fluciuations
in variable acquisition costs are monilored to ensure consislency wih new business volumes.
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1. Risk mitigation (continued)
11.7.  Insurance risk (continved)

Unexpecled once-offl costs will reduce profit during the year Experience has demonstrated that it is mpossible to anticipale all expenses during the budget
procass Therefore. negative mpacls on future profit are reduced by making allowance for once-off costs in the projection of future expenses.

Slaif bonus incentives are depandent on achieving profil targels and so this ensures that stafl are aware of the need to manage expenses.

174 ngilivi rked and in

Group Equity Value s a crilical element of he management :nformalion used by management in managing the Company and ils operations. As such
insurance and marksl risk sensilivities are presented below as changes in lhe net value of in-lorce business (net VIF) of the Company for each reasonable
possible change in (he relevant parameters. The fofal VIF of the Company as at December 2018 was R8 004 miion (2017 R7 421 million).

Percentage change in net VIF from base value 2018 2017
Interest rmte and assets
Increasa risk discount rate by 1% -4.70% -5.20%
Decrease risk discounl rate by 1% 5.20% 572%%
Investimen! relurn (and inflation) decreased by 1% and wilh bonus rates and discount rales changing 425% 4.12%
commensurately
Equityfproperly assels fall by 10% wilhout a corresponding faltrise in dividendfrental yield - Assume portfolio 0.71% 0.97%
asset mix is rebalanced afler fall in market values
Increase expecled return on equitiesiproperly assels by 1% p.a. due to a change in the equily/property risk 0.82% 1.03%
premium wilh no consequendial changes to discount rales
Shock scenario 10.04% -10.11%
Expenses and persistency
Non-commission maintenance expenses {excluding invesimant expenses) decreasa by 10% 254% 241%
Discontinuance rates deaease by 10% 5.26% 533%
Insurance risk
Base moriahty and morbidity rates deareased by 5% lor life assurance non-annuity busimness 4.69% 438%

11785 Concenirafion of insirance risk

Concentration nsk is the risk of financial loss owing to having writlen large proportions of business wilth policyholders of the same or simélar risk prolite. The
main concenlration nsk for the Company relates o geographic concenlration. The geographical exposure of the Company's [ife insurance operations =
based on the valus ol poficy liabillies in each region. The majority of life insurance exposure is to the South African market

Long-term insurance risks for individual business do not vary signilicantly in relation 1o Ihe location of Ihe risk insured. The Company is nol exposed lo a
concentration by amounts insured because ds funeral product range has relstively low sums assured

The Company's group risk schemes do present a concantralion risk This is because employees working n close proxmity ko sach other may be aflecled by
lhe same claim event of risks spectfic to an induslry The Company has a calastrophe excess of loss reinsurance trealy to mitigate the risk arising from this
concentration



